

Bernadette Juarez Deputy Administrator United States Department of Agriculture Animal and Plant Health Inspection Services Biotechnology Regulatory Services

**RECEIVED** By Joseph Tangredi at 1:26 pm, May 06, 2025

April 9, 2025

Dear Ms. Juarez,

On behalf of Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited, we submit the following petition for determination of nonregulated status for Phalaenopsis ISK-311NR-4.

#### PETITION FOR DETERMINATION OF NONREGULATED STATUS

The undersigned submits this petition under 7 CFR § 340.6 to request that the Administrator make a determination that the article, ISK-311NR-4 phalaenopsis (311NR) not be regulated under 7 CFR part 340.

T. Kenyuka

April 9, 2025

Petitioner

#### Date

#### A. Statement of Grounds

Based on the information contained in this petition, the petitioner asserts that the ISK-311NR should not be regulated under 7 CFR part 340

The 311NR phalaenopsis presented in this petition was developed using genetic engineering techniques to produce a blue-purple flower color.

311NR phalaenopsis was generated using *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation with pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H containing the *CcF3'5'H* and *hpt* genes. Molecular characterization of 311NR phalaenopsis by Southern analysis confirmed that a single, intact DNA insert was inserted into the genome.

The potential environmental impact of the introduction of 311NR phalaenopsis considered two primary areas: the potential for 311NR phalaenopsis to become weedy or invasive; and the potential for gene flow to sexually compatible wild relatives. The 311NR phalaenopsis does not exhibit characteristics that would indicate it is any more likely than non-genetically engineered phalaenopsis to become a weed or plant pest.



The data and information contained herein supports the conclusion that 311NR phalaenopsis is unlikely to pose a greater plant pest risk than conventional, non-genetically engineered phalaenopsis and is not otherwise deleterious to the environment. Therefore, we request that APHIS grant the request for a determination of nonregulated status for 311NR phalaenopsis, 311NR phalaenopsis progeny, and any crosses of 311NR phalaenopsis with other nonregulated phalaenopsis.

Unfavorable information: NONE

#### **B.** Certification

The undersigned certifies, that to the best knowledge and belief of the undersigned, this petition includes all information and views on which to base a determination, and that it includes relevant data and information known to the petitioner which are unfavorable to the petition.

T. Lezuka

april 9, 2025

Date

Petitioner D. Tomoaki Kezuka General Manager, Bluish Ornamental Flower Division Biosciences Business Headquarters, ISHIHARA SANGYO KAISHA, LTD. 3-15, Edobori 1-Chome, Nishi-Ku Osaka, 550-0002, Japan E-mail: t-kezuka@iskweb.co.jp

### Petition for Determination of Nonregulated Status for Blue-purple Phalaenopsis ISK-311NR-4

Submitting Company: Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited Biosciences Business Headquarters, ISHIHARA SANGYO KAISHA, LTD. 3-15, Edobori 1-Chome, Nishi-Ku Osaka, 550-0002, Japan

> Prepared by: North Hill Group

OECD Identifier: ISK-311NR-4

Updated Submission Date: April 9, 2025

DOES NOT CONTAIN CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION

# **Release of Information**

Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited (ISK) is submitting information in this document for review by the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) Biotechnology Regulatory Services (BRS) as part of the Petition process established under USDA's regulations at 7 CFR §340 which implements its authority under the Plant Protection Act, 7 U.S.C. § 7701 *et seq.* ISK does not waive any rights to prevent release to any third party. If USDA were to receive a request under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 5 U.S.C. section 522, seeking all of some of the information provided in this submission, ISK expects that USDA will provide ISK with a copy of the material proposed to be released in advance of the release of any document(s) or information, and the opportunity to object to the release of any information based on appropriate legal grounds.

#### © 2025 Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited. All rights reserved.

This document is protected by copyright law. This document and associated material is for use only by the regulatory authority for the purpose that it is submitted by Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited ("ISK"), its affiliates, or its licensees and only with the explicit consent of ISK. Except in accordance with law, any other use of this material, without prior written consent of ISK is strictly prohibited. The intellectual property, information and materials described in or accompanying this document are proprietary to ISK. By submitting this document, ISK does not grant any party or entity not authorized by ISK any right or license to the information or intellectual property described in this document.

# Table of Contents

Release of Information	2
Tables	5
Figures	6
Abbreviations, Acronyms, and Definitions	7
Executive Summary	9
I. Rationale for the Development of 311NR Phalaenopsis	10
I.A. Basis for the Request for a Determination of Nonregulated Status under 7 CFR $\S$ 340.6	. 10
I.B. Rationale for the Development of 311NR Phalaenopsis	.10
I.C. Prior Environmental Release and Submissions to Other Regulatory Agencies	.10
I.D. Phalaenopsis Cultivation in the United States and Usage	.11
II. The Biology of Phalaenopsis	11
II.A. Phalaenopsis as a Horticultural Plant	11
II.B. Description of the Non-Transformed Recipient Plant	13
II.C. Recipient Phalaenopsis Line	13
III. Method of Development of 311NR Phalaenopsis	13
III.A. Description of Transformation, Selection, and Breeding Method	13
III.A.2. Selection	16
III.B. Selection of Comparators for STINK Phalaenopsis	.10
IV. Donor Genes and Regulatory Sequences	16
IV.A. DNA Used in Transformation IV.A.1. Information on Vectors Used to Produce 311NR Phalaenopsis IV.A.2. Method for Preparing Living Modified Organisms	.16 18 22
IV.B. Identity and Source of the CcF3'5'H and hpt Gene Cassettes in Plasmid pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H IV.B.1. Source of the CcF3'5'H Gene IV.B.2. Source of the hpt Gene	24 24 24
V. Genetic Characterization of 311NR Phalaenopsis	24
V.A. Molecular Analysis Overview	24
V.B. Southern Analysis, Copy Number, Integrity, Absence of Vector Backbone Sequence V.B.1. Southern Blot Analysis for Copy Number V.B.2. Southern Blot Analysis for Generational Stability of the Insert in 311NR Phalaenopsis V.B.3. Southern Blot Analysis for Confirmation of Absence of Vector Backbone Sequence	25 25 27
V.C. Polymerase Chain Reaction Analysis	30
V.C.1. PCR Analysis for Presence/Absence of Transgenes	30 22
V.D. Resistance to hygromycin B in Protocorm Like Bodies of 311NR Phalaenopsis	32

V.E. Confirmation of the Absence of Agrobacterium tumefaciens in 311NR Phalaenopsis V.E.1. Southern Blot Analysis of Line 311 to Determine Absence of Agrobacterium V.E.2. PCR Analysis of Line 311 to Determine Absence of Agrobacterium	<b>36</b> 36
V.E.3. Colony Formation Assay for Confirmation of Absence of Agrobacterium tumefaciens in Line 311NR	37
V.F. Conclusions on the Molecular Characterization and Genetic Stability of 311NR Phalaenopsis	40
VI. Morphological, Growth Characteristics and Ecological Observations	40
VI.A. Morphological and Growth Characteristic Field Trial	41
VI.A.1. Date of Flowering	41
VI.A.2. Plant Length	41
VI.A.3. Number of Inflorescences and Number of Flowers per Inflorescence	42
VI.A.5. Length and Width of the Largest Leaf.	42
VI.A.6. Flower Width and Length	43
VI.A.7. Number and Size of Pollinia	43
VI.B. Ecological Evaluations	44
VI.B.1. Seed Production Ability by Self-Pollination	44
VI.B.2. Seedling Cold Tolerance	44
VI.B.3. Seedling Heat Tolerance	46
VI.C. Conclusions on Morphological and Growth Characteristics, and Ecological Observations	49
VI.C.1. Morphological and Growth Characteristics	49
VI.C.2. Ecological Observations	50
VII. Potential Environmental Impact of the Introduction of 311NR Phalaenopsis	50
VII.A. Potential for 311NR Phalaenopsis to Have Altered Disease and Unintended Pest Susceptibilities or to Become Weedy or Invasive	50
VII.B. Potential for Gene Flow Between 311NR Phalaenopsis and Sexually Compatible Wild Relatives	51
VII.C. Phalaenopsis 311NR and Pollinators	51
VIII. Adverse Consequences of Introduction	52
IX. Bibliography	52
Appendices	55
Annondix 1. DCP Mothoda	E 6
PCB Identification of Ganes of Interest	50
RT-PCR Analysis of Gene Expression in Petals and Leaf.	57
Materials and Methods for PCR Analysis to Confirm Absence of Agrobacterium Backbone DNA	58
Appendix 2. Materials and Methods for Southern Blot Analysis	
Southern Blots for Copy Number	
Southern Blots for Generational Stability	59
Southern Blots for Absence of Agrobacterium Backbone	59
Appendix 3. Materials and Methods for Determination of Hygromycin Resistance in PLBs	60
Appendix 4. Materials and Methods for Determination of Agrobacterium Presence Using Agar	
Plates	60
Appendix 5. Sequence Information	
· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	

# Tables

Table 1. Generations Used for 311NR Phalaenopsis Data Collection	15
Table 2. Genetic Elements of pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H	23
Table 3. Characteristics Measured in Phalaenopsis Confined Field Trial	41
Table 4. Date of Flowering for PP3387 and 311NR Phalaenopsis	41
Table 5. Plant Length for PP3387 and 311NR Phalaenopsis	42
Table 6. Number of Inflorescences in PP3387 and 311NR Phalaenopsis	42
Table 7. Shape of Inflorescences and Number of Flowers per Inflorescence in PP3387 and	
311NR Phalaenopsis	42
Table 8. Length and Width of Largest Leaf for PP3387 and 311NR	43
Table 9. Flower Width and Length of PP3387 and 311NR Phalaenopsis	43
Table 10. Number and Size of Pollinia of PP3387 and 311NR Phalaenopsis	44
Table 11. Number of Self-Pollinated Flowers for PP3387 and 311NR Phalaenopsis	44

# Figures

Figure 1. Enlarged View of Phalaenopsis Flower	13
Figure 2. Breeding Diagram of 311NR Phalaenopsis	15
Figure 3. Map of Plasmid Containing Expression Vector pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H	17
Figure 4. Structure of the T-DNA Region in pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H	18
Figure 5. Anthocyanin Biosynthetic Pathway	21
Figure 6. Southern Blot Analysis of 311NR Phalaenopsis	26
Figure 7. Locations of Probes and Restriction Sites in 311NR Insert	27
Figure 8. Southern Blot Analysis of Line 311 and Clone Seedlings	28
Figure 9. Location of Probes Used for Backbone Southern Blot Analysis of <i>Phalaenopsis</i> Line	
311	29
Figure 10. Southern Blot Analysis for Confirmation of Absence of Backbone Sequence in Line	
311	30
Figure 11. PCR for Transgenes in the Flower, Leaf, and Root Tissues of Original Line 311	31
Figure 12. RT-PCR Analysis of Expression of Transgenes in Petals of <i>Phalaenopsis Line</i> 311	
Clones 311WL, 311NR, and 311TL	33
Figure 13. RT-PCR Analysis of Expression of Transgenes in Leaf of <i>Phalaenopsis</i> Line 311	
Clones 311WL, 311NR, and 311TL	34
Figure 14. PLBs on agar medium with hygromycin B after 10 weeks of cultivation	35
Figure 15. Agrobacterium PCR Results Using aphA-3 Gene Probe	37
Figure 16. 311NR Phalaenopsis on LB Agar	39
Figure 17. Agrobacterium on LB Agar	40
Figure 18. Seedlings of PP3387 and 311NR in the Confined Field Trial for Cold Tolerance	45
Figure 19. Ambient Temperature and Humidity During Cold Tolerance Field Trial	46
Figure 20. Temperature and Humidity Measurements at Field Trial Site (June 25 – July 31)	47
Figure 21. Temperature and Humidity Measurements at Field Trial Site (August 1 –	
September 9)	48
Figure 22. Seedlings of PP3387 and 311NR Phalaenopsis in Heat Treatment Experiment	49

# Abbreviations, Acronyms, and Definitions

# 3 311NR..... Phalaenopsis event ISK-311NR-4 Α A. tumefaciens ......Agrobacterium tumefaciens ANS ......Anthocyanidin synthase aphA-3 ...... Aminoglycoside phosphotransferase type III APHIS ...... Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service AT .....Anthocyanin acyltransferase В BRS.....Biotechnology Regulatory Services С CaMV......Cauliflower mosaic virus CBI ...... Confidential Business Information cDNA ......Complementary DNA CHI ..... Chalcone isomerase CHS.....Chalcone synthase D DFR ......Dihydroflavonol reductase Ε E. coli..... Escherichia coli F F3'H..... Flavonone 3-hydroxylase F3H..... Flavanone 3-hydroxylase FOIA .....Freedom of Information Act G

GT .....Anthocyanidin glucosyltransferase

1	
ISK	Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited
<u></u>	
R	
kb	Kilobases
L	
LB	Luria-Bertain
P	
PCR	
r LD	
R	
R. radiobacter	Rhizobium radiobacter
S	
S. faecalis	Streptococcus faecalis
TMV	Tobacco Mosaic Virus
U	
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
UTR	Untranslated region
μ	
-	
με	Micrograms

# **Executive Summary**

Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited (ISK) is submitting a Petition for Determination of Nonregulated Status for blue-purple flower color phalaenopsis event ISK-311NR-4, hereafter referred to as 311NR. ISK requests a determination from USDA Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) that 311NR phalaenopsis, 311NR phalaenopsis progeny, and any crosses of 311NR phalaenopsis with other nonregulated phalaenopsis no longer be considered regulated articles under 7 CFR § 340.

311NR phalaenopsis was developed by ISK using genetic engineering techniques to produce a blue-purple flower color.

311NR phalaenopsis was generated using *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation with pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H containing the *CcF3'5'H* and *hpt* genes. Molecular characterization of 311NR phalaenopsis by Southern analysis confirmed that a single, intact DNA insert was inserted into the genome.

The potential environmental impact of the introduction of 311NR phalaenopsis considered two primary areas: the potential for 311NR phalaenopsis to become weedy or invasive; and the potential for gene flow to sexually compatible wild relatives. Therefore, 311NR phalaenopsis does not exhibit characteristics that would indicate it is any more likely than non-genetically engineered phalaenopsis to become a weed or plant pest.

The data and information contained herein supports the conclusion that 311NR phalaenopsis is unlikely to pose a greater plant pest risk than conventional, non-genetically engineered phalaenopsis and is not otherwise deleterious to the environment. Therefore, ISK requests that APHIS grant the request for a determination of nonregulated status for 311NR phalaenopsis, 311NR phalaenopsis progeny, and any crosses of 311NR phalaenopsis with other nonregulated phalaenopsis.

No known information is available which would be unfavorable to this petition.

# I. Rationale for the Development of 311NR Phalaenopsis

# I.A. Basis for the Request for a Determination of Nonregulated Status under 7 CFR § 340.6.

The Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) of the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) has responsibility, under the Plant Protection Act (7 U.S.C. 7701-7772), to prevent the introduction or dissemination of plant pests into or within the United States. 7 CFR § 340 regulates the introduction of organisms altered or produced through genetic engineering which are plant pests or for which there is a reason to believe are plant pests. The APHIS regulations at 7 CFR § 340.6 provide that an applicant may petition APHIS to evaluate submitted data on the genetically engineered (GE) plant to determine that a regulated article does not present a plant pest risk and therefore should no longer be regulated.

Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited (ISK) is submitting data for genetically engineered phalaenopsis with blue-purple flower color ISK-311NR-4 (311NR) and requests a determination from USDA-APHIS that 311NR phalaenopsis, its progeny, and any crosses with other nonregulated phalaenopsis no longer be considered regulated articles under 7 CFR § 340.

### I.B. Rationale for the Development of 311NR Phalaenopsis

The 311NR phalaenopsis has been genetically engineered to produce a blue-purple flower. This trait was introduced using *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* (*A. tumefaciens*) mediated transformation with plasmid pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H (Figure 3).

The comparator phalaenopsis plant is Wedding Promenade PP3387 (hereafter referred to as PP3387 phalaenopsis) which produces a red-purple flower. The genetically engineered 311NR phalaenopsis will offer an additional choice of a plant that produces a blue-purple flower.

# I.C. Prior Environmental Release and Submissions to Other Regulatory Agencies

In accordance with Japan's law governing the use of genetically engineered plants, the application for 311NR phalaenopsis was submitted on May 17, 2020 and approved on March 3, 2021.

As of the date of this submission, 311NR phalaenopsis is cultivated only in Japan. Commercial cultivation has occurred at two greenhouses in Japan, totaling approximately 10,000 plants in 2024.

No other submissions have been made on behalf of 311NR phalaenopsis in any other geographies.

### I.D. Phalaenopsis Cultivation in the United States and Usage

Phalaenopsis are popular in the United States for commercial cultivation and as houseplants and make up one-third of the total wholesale value of potted flowering crops. It is estimated that the United States produces approximately 36 million plants per year at a value of \$300,000,000. (FloraCulture International 2023). Phalaenopsis orchids are commonly cultivated in warmer climates but are also successfully grown as houseplants in cooler climates.

Phalaenopsis orchids are sold as both potted plants and cut flowers. In 2023, California was the U.S. leader in overall floriculture production (which includes orchids), closely followed by Michigan, Pennsylvania, New York, and Florida (United States Department of Agriculture 2024).

# II. The Biology of Phalaenopsis

### **II.A. Phalaenopsis as a Horticultural Plant**

The genus *Phalaenopsis*, commonly known as moth orchids, is one of the most popular groups of orchids worldwide. Native primarily to Southeast Asia, *Phalaenopsis* species are not indigenous to North America but have been widely cultivated and hybridized for both commercial and hobbyist purposes (Runkle, et al. 2007) (Hsiao, et al. 2011). Their biology and growth habits in North America are closely tied to controlled environments such as greenhouses and indoor gardening, where they have become staples of ornamental horticulture.

*Phalaenopsis* orchids are classified within the family Orchidaceae and comprise about 70 species, along with countless hybrids developed for their large flowers, vibrant colors, and prolonged blooming periods (Teoh 2016). Morphologically, these orchids are characterized by thick, fleshy, elliptical leaves that are dark green and serve as their primary photosynthetic structure. Their roots are thick and covered with velamen, aiding in water absorption and protection, while their flowers, which resemble a moth in flight, come in a wide range of colors and patterns, including white, pink, purple, and yellow. As monopodial plants, they grow from a single stem that elongates over time (American Orchid Society n.d.).

In their native tropical and subtropical forests, *Phalaenopsis* orchids are epiphytes, growing on trees with roots exposed to air and moisture. In North America, however, they are cultivated primarily as houseplants or in greenhouses. Their adaptability to low-light conditions and ability to thrive indoors make them a popular choice among gardeners and hobbyists (Brickell 1997). These orchids are well-suited to environments with temperatures between 65–75°F (18–24°C), indirect sunlight, and humidity levels of 50-70%, which can be maintained with humidifiers or water trays. They require well-draining substrates like bark or sphagnum moss to replicate their natural epiphytic conditions (Teoh 2016) (American Orchid Society n.d.).

# Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited 311NR phalaenopsis

Reproduction in *Phalaenopsis* orchids occurs naturally through insect pollination, often by moths in their native habitats (Ray and Vendrame 2015) (American Orchid Society n.d.). In cultivation, they are typically hand-pollinated to create hybrids. While wild *Phalaenopsis* reproduce through seeds, North American growers often propagate them through tissue culture or by encouraging the development of keiki (plantlets) on flowering stems (American Orchid Society n.d.). These orchids usually bloom once a year, though hybrids may flower multiple times under optimal conditions.

Common pests affecting *Phalaenopsis* orchids in North America include mealybugs, spider mites, and scale insects, while diseases such as root rot, bacterial blight, and fungal infections can result from overwatering, high humidity, or stagnant air (Brickell 1997). Despite these challenges, *Phalaenopsis* orchids have become a cornerstone of the floriculture industry. They are highly valued for their beauty and ease of care, making them a favorite among plant enthusiasts.

Although *Phalaenopsis* orchids are not endangered, wild populations in their native habitats face threats from habitat destruction and overcollection. Conservation efforts focus on sustainable cultivation and the development of hybrids that are more resilient to pests and diseases (Fay 2018). In North America, *Phalaenopsis* orchids play a significant role not only in the ornamental plant market but also in education, where they are used to teach plant biology due to their unique reproductive and ecological traits. Their enduring popularity and adaptability ensure that they remain an integral part of horticulture in North America.

The *Phalaenopsis* orchid has a distinctive and intricate flower structure (Figure 1). Each flower consists of three sepals and three petals, with the sepals being petal-like in appearance. The dorsal sepal is positioned at the top, while the two lateral sepals are located on either side, forming part of the floral display. The petals include two lateral petals, and a uniquely modified petal called the labellum or lip. The lateral petals resemble the sepals in shape and color, enhancing the symmetry of the flower, while the labellum, positioned at the bottom of the flower, serves as a landing platform for pollinators. The labellum is often intricately shaped and brightly colored with patterns that attract pollinators, and it may feature calluses or ridges to guide them toward the central reproductive column (Dressler 1993).

The column is the central structure of the flower, housing both the stamens (male) and pistil (female). It is a fused organ that includes the anther cap, which protects the pollinia (waxy masses of pollen), and the sticky stigma, which captures pollen during pollination. Below the column is the ovary, located between the flower's pedicel (stalk) and the column. The ovary develops into a seed capsule after successful pollination. *Phalaenopsis* flowers exhibit zygomorphy, meaning they are bilaterally symmetrical and can be divided into two mirror-image halves. Additionally, the flowers undergo resupination during development, twisting 180 degrees so that the labellum is positioned downward to facilitate pollination (Hsiao, et al. 2011). This specialized structure, coupled with the plant's vibrant colors and patterns, makes

*Phalaenopsis* orchids highly effective at attracting pollinators, particularly moths, and highly desirable as ornamental plants (Hsiao, et al. 2011) (Ray and Vendrame 2015).



Figure 1. Enlarged View of Phalaenopsis Flower

Figure taken from (Bottom 2024).

# **II.B. Description of the Non-Transformed Recipient Plant**

# **II.C. Recipient Phalaenopsis Line**

Wedding Promenade PP3387 phalaenopsis (also referred to as PP3387 phalaenopsis) is the nontransformed wild-type line used for creation of the genetically engineered 311NR phalaenopsis line. PP3387 phalaenopsis has a medium flower size and red-purple flowers in a raceme. Its arched stalk can reach 60cm height. Flower size is 6 - 7 cm, and each inflorescence has 10 - 15flowers.

# **III. Method of Development of 311NR Phalaenopsis**

# **III.A. Description of Transformation, Selection, and Breeding Method**

### III.A.1. Transformation

The 311NR phalaenopsis was created by *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation with plasmid pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H (Figure 3).

Protocorm like bodies (PLB) of comparator line PP3387 were co-cultured with Agrobacterium

Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited 311NR phalaenopsis

*tumefaciens* (*A. tumefaciens*) containing expression vector pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H (Figure 3). Annotation of the genetic components contained in plasmid pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H are presented in Table 2. The inserted expression vector (pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H) is located between the right and left borders and is marked with connected arrows shown in Figure 3.

PLB of PP3387 phalaenopsis were co-cultured with *A. tumefaciens* containing expression vector pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H. PLBs were then transferred to PLB culture medium with hygromycin B (for selection) and meropenem (for removal of *Agrobacterium*). Forty-five strains of hygromycin-resistant cells were obtained from transformation.

Transformation of PLB of PP3387 phalaenopsis was performed in 2008 in Japan. Thirty-two plants were obtained from 45 regenerated strains of transformed PLB. Plants were cultivated in a containment greenhouse and net-house. Two lines of blue-purple *Phalaenopsis* (lines 311 and 164) were obtained in 2012. The presence of the T-DNA region from plasmid pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H in these two lines has been confirmed via PCR (see section V.C). Lines 311 and 164 showed somaclonal variation in petal shape as previously reported in Wedding Promenade (Tokuhara 1998). Of these lines, *Phalaenopsis* line 311 had lesser petal variation (petals slightly transformed into lip) and was selected and advanced for analysis of the insert and its genetic elements.

From 2012, clone seedlings of *Phalaenopsis* line 311 from the tissue culture of the axillary bud of scapes were prepared, and 37 potted plants were obtained. In 2015, these plants produced flowers with three different shapes of petals: 1) 311WL: petals slightly transform into the flower lip similar to line 311 (19 plants), 2) 311TL: petals completely transform into the flower lip (10 plants) and 3) 311NR: produced normal shape of petals (2 plants). Information on biological diversity risk assessment was collected by using these three lines in a net-house.

Southern blot analysis for the insertion and junction sequence to 311WL, 311TL, and 311NR plants showed the same result as line 311 plants. In addition, an identical result was confirmed in these plants and line 311 via PCR analysis using a primer set which was designed targeting the insertion and the junction sequence.

Based on these results, it is concluded that the 31 plants used for the assessment are all from the line 311, and variation of petals were due to somaclonal variation.

Line 311NR was selected to advance based on its normal petal shape, and clone plants of the line 311NR were used for collection of information for a biological diversity risk assessment at a confined field and net-house

In this petition, it is defined that "the line 311" is the first plant of 311 series, and 311NR, 311WL and 311TL are three different clone plants obtained from the line 311. These four lines used for studies in the dossier are all TO generation. The scope of this application is 311NR phalaenopsis, clone plants of 311NR, and all crossbreed progeny derived from 311NR.

The breeding diagram of 311NR phalaenopsis is shown in Figure 2. Generations used in each experiment described in this document are presented in Table 1.



#### Figure 2. Breeding Diagram of 311NR Phalaenopsis

#### Table 1. Generations Used for 311NR Phalaenopsis Data Collection

Generation	Experiment
ТО	Structure of the insert and genetic elements,
	absence of Agrobacterium in flower, leaf, and
	root via PCR, confined field trial in net-house,
	absence of Agrobacterium on cultivation
	media.
F1	N/A

### III.A.2. Selection

*Agrobacterium* cells used for transformation were removed using culture medium supplemented with meropenem. Additionally, polymerase chain reaction (PCR) analysis targeting the aminoglycoside phosphotransferase III (*aphA-3*) gene which is located in the non T-DNA region of the pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H vector. DNA was extracted from flower, leaf, and root of the TO generation of 311NR phalaenopsis for PCR analysis. PCR results showed no presence of the *aphA-3* gene and, therefore, no presence of *Agrobacterium* backbone DNA. Additionally, growth of *Agrobacterium* was not shown during culture and cultivation of PLB on media formulated to encourage *Agrobacterium* growth.

## **III.B. Selection of Comparators for 311NR Phalaenopsis**

Wedding Promenade PP3387 phalaenopsis (also referred to as PP3387 phalaenopsis) is the nontransformed wild-type line used for creation of the genetically engineered 311NR line. The PP3387 line is used in the experiments described in this petition as the non-GE comparator for 311NR phalaenopsis.

# **IV. Donor Genes and Regulatory Sequences**

The genetic information including the annotation of the genetic material inserted, construct component donor information and function of the inserted genetic material (Table 2) for 311NR phalaenopsis are provided below.

# **IV.A. DNA Used in Transformation**

PLBs of recipient line PP3387 phalaenopsis were co-cultured with *A. tumefaciens* containing expression vector pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H (Figure 3). Annotation of the genetic components contained in plasmid pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H are presented in Table 2. The inserted expression vector (pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H) is located between the right and left borders and is marked with connected arrows shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Map of Plasmid Containing Expression Vector pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H

Numbers to the right of each genetic component in Figure 3 represent the base pair position of the component from the first nucleotide of origin. Genetic element base pair locations are also included in the annotations of each genetic element presented in Table 2.



Figure 4. Structure of the T-DNA Region in pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H

The numbers below the restriction enzymes indicate positions of each restriction enzyme recognitions site when the first base of the *Bg*/II in the right border sequence of the T-DNA region is set to bp 1.

#### IV.A.1. Information on Vectors Used to Produce 311NR Phalaenopsis

#### IV.A.1.(a) Plasmid Information

The plasmid pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H used for the development of 311NR phalaenopsis was constructed based on the binary vector pBI121 (Chen, et al. 2003). Components other than the T-DNA region in pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H (Figure 3) consists of non T-DNA region of pBI121 which is non T-DNA region of a binary vector Bin 19 (Frisch, et al. 1995). However, the direction of the T-DNA region in pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H is reversed at two *Bgl*II sites (Figure 4) compared to that in pBI121 and Bin 19 (Frisch, et al. 1995). The Non T-DNA region in Bin 19 was constructed based on the vector pRK252 and aminoglycoside phosphotransferase III gene (*aphA-3*) of *Streptcoccus faecalis* (Hasnain, Manavathu and Leung 1985).

Plasmid RK2 was initially isolated from *Klebsiella pneumoniae* though it was isolated from various gram-negative bacteria.

The number of bases of pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H used to create 311NR phalaenopsis is 13,996 bp.

#### IV.A.1.(b) Function of the CcF3'5'H Gene in 311NR Phalaenopsis

The intended phenotype is a Blue-purple flower which is produced by the insertion and expression of the *Commelina communis* flavonoid 3'5'-hydroxylase (F3'5'H) gene in 311NR phalaenopsis.

Additionally, 311NR phalaenopsis contains the hygromycin B phosphotransferase (*hpt*) gene. The *hpt* gene confers resistance to antibiotic hygromycin B and was used as a selectable marker.

The F3'5'H gene was inserted into 311NR phalaenopsis to produce a blue-purple flower color. The production of the blue-purple phenotype via use of the F3'5'H enzyme in the flavonoid pathway is described below. It is well known that flower color is determined by the production of pigments, namely anthocyanins, terpenoids, and betalains. Anthocyanins are a class of flavonoids which play a role in flower color and contribute to flower color in the orange/red and violet/blue spectrum (Katsumoto, et al. 2007) (Tanaka, Sasaki and Ohmiya 2008) (Liang, et al. 2020). Terpenoids are synthesized in chloroplasts and contribute to photosynthesis. Betalains are yellow to red pigments derived from tyrosine and are not as common as anthocyanins. All three pigment classes are visual and attractive to pollinators and can provide plant protection from visible and UV light (Tanaka, Sasaki and Ohmiya 2008).

Flavonoids are widely distributed among plants and contain 19 different types of anthocyanins. Six major anthocyanins are pelargonidin, cyanidin, peonidin, delphinidin, petunidin, and malvidin. The color generated by anthocyanins depends greatly on the number of hydroxyl groups on the B-ring of each molecule. The larger number of hydroxyl groups, the bluer the color produced (Tanaka, Sasaki and Ohmiya 2008).

The structure of anthocyanins allows for the production of a wide range of flower colors from orange-red to violet-blue. Variation of anthocyanins is determined in the flavonoid pathway (Figure 5) by the absence or presence of the activity of flavonoid 3'-hydroxylase (F3'H), and flavonoid 3'5'-hydroxylase (F3'5'H). Based on these variations, the following outcomes are possible:

- <u>Pelargonidin-based anthocyanins</u>: An orange-red color is the flower petal phenotype if pelargonidin aglycones are produced. The B-ring of pelargonidin possesses one hydroxy group. Pelargonidin aglycones are accumulated with the absence of both F3'H and F3'5'H.
- 2. <u>Cyanidin-based anthocyanins</u>: A red-purple color is the flower petal phenotype if cyanidin aglycones are produced. The B-ring of cyanidin possesses two hydroxy groups. Cyanidin aglycones are accumulated in the presence of F3'H.
- <u>Delphinidin-based anthocyanins</u>: A violet-blue color is the flower petal phenotype if delphinidin aglycones are produced. The B-ring of delphinidin possesses three hydroxy groups. Delphinidin aglycone are accumulated in the presence of F3'5'H and the presence or absence of F3'H (Hsiao, et al. 2011) (Tanaka, Sasaki and Ohmiya 2008) (Zhou, et al. 2021) (Liang, et al. 2020).

Figure 5 shows the flavonoid biosynthetic pathways necessary to produce pelargonidin, cyanidin, and delphinidin-based anthocyanins. A description of the flavonoid pathway and the role of the F3'5'H enzyme in determining flower color is described below.

Anthocyanins are water soluble pigments that determine flower color and are synthesized through flavonoid metabolism (Figure 5) in the following steps (Katsumoto, et al. 2007):

- 1. In the first committed step of the flavonoid pathway, chalcone synthase (CHS) produces chalcones, which are precursors for all flavonoid classes.
- 2. The conversion of chalcones to naringenins is catalyzed by chalcone isomerase (CHI)
- 3. Naringenin is then converted to dihydrokaempferol by flavanone 3-hydroxylase (F3H).

- 4. Dihydrokaempferol is a major branch point in the production of flavonoids. Three endpoints are possible via several biosynthetic pathways:
  - a. Production of pelargonidin-based anthocyanins
  - b. Production of cyanidin-based anthocyanins
  - c. Production of delphinidin-based anthocyanins
- 5. Production of pelargonidin-based anthocyanins proceeds in the absence of flavonoid 3'hydroxylase (F3'H). Dihydrokaempferol is converted to pelargonidin via several enzymatic steps using dihydroflavonol reductase (DFR) and anthocyanidin synthase (ANS). Pelargonidin-based anthocyanins are then generated from pelargonidin via several enzymatic steps involving anthocyanidin glucosyltransferase (GT), and anthocyanin acyltransferase (AT). The production of pelargonidin-based anthocyanins produces an orange-red color phenotype.
- 6. Production of cyanidin-based anthocyanins proceed in the presence of F3'H and the absence of F3'5'H. The F3'H enzyme converts dihydrokaempferol to dihydroquercetin. Dihydroquercetin is then converted to cyanidin via several enzymatic steps using DFR and ANS. Cyanidin-based anthocyanins are then generated from cyanidin via several enzymatic steps involving GT and AT. Cyanidin-based anthocyanins produce a red-purple color phenotype.
- 7. Production of delphinidin-based anthocyanins occurs in the presence of the F3'5'H enzyme via one of two pathways. One is dependent on the presence of the F3'H enzyme, and the second is independent of the presence of the F3'H enzyme. As stated earlier, the accumulation of delphinidin-based anthocyanins produces a violet-blue phenotype.
  - a. In the presence of the F3'H enzyme:
    - i. Dihydrokaempferol is converted to dihydroquercetin.
    - ii. Dihydroquercetin is then converted to dihydromyricetin by F3'5'H.
    - iii. Dihydromyricetin is converted to delphinidin through several enzymatic steps using DFR and ANS.
    - iv. Delphinidin-based anthocyanins are produced from delphinidin via several enzymatic steps using GT and AT.
  - b. In the absence of the F3'H enzyme:
    - i. Dihydrokaempferol is converted to dihydromyricetin using the F3'5'H enzyme.
    - ii. Dihydromyricetin is converted to delphinidin via several enzymatic steps using DFR and ANS.
    - iii. Delphinidin-based anthocyanins are produced via several enzymatic steps using GT and AT.

coumaroyl-CoA + 3 x malonyl-CoA



Katsumoto et al., 2007

Abbreviations: CHS – chalcone synthase, CHI – chalcone isomerase, FLS – flavonol synthase, F3H – flavanone 3-hydroxylase, F3'H – flavonoid 3'hydroxylase, F3'5'H – flavonoid 3'5'-hydroxylase, DFR – dihydroflavonol reductase, ANS – anthocyanidin synthase, 3GT – 3-Oglucosyltransferase, AT – anthocyanin acyltransferase.

#### Figure 5. Anthocyanin Biosynthetic Pathway

The production of violet-blue color in *Phalaenopsis* orchids has been previously studied and those studies have shown that plants with white flowers do not express F3'5'H (Liang, et al. 2020). Additionally, these plants did not accumulate delphinidin. This provides further evidence that the expression of a F3'5'H gene in 311NR phalaenopsis flowers is expected to produce the violet-blue phenotype.

The insertion of the F3'5'H gene in the genetically modified 311NR phalaenopsis flower produces dihyrdromyricetin, which is then converted to delphinidin. The accumulation of delphinidin produces the intended violet-blue color phenotype in 311NR phalaenopsis flowers.

#### IV.A.1.(c) Function of the hpt Gene in 311NR Phalaenopsis

Hygromycin B phosphotransferase (*hpt*) is an enzyme that phosphorylates hygromycin B and confers hygromycin resistance. The *hpt* gene is used as a dominant selectable marker in 311NR phalaenopsis and has been previously used in GE bacteria, fungi, plants, insects, and mammalian cells (Smulian, et al. 2007). The activity of *hpt* is known to have high specificity to compounds of hygromycin B-like aminoglycoside antibiotics (Daigle, et al. 1999). The use of the *hpt* gene has rarely been reported to result in effects outside of the expected use and has not been associated with insertional mutagenesis.

Hygromycin B which is an aminoglycoside antibiotic, interferes with the recognition of aminoacyl tRNA and the translocation of peptidyl tRNA on ribosomes in prokaryotic and eukaryotic organisms, causing mRNA misreading and inhibition of protein synthesis, thereby inhibiting growth (Cabanas, Vazquez and Modolell 1978). Many plants, including *Phalaenopsis*, are also sensitive to hygromycin B. Hygromycin B phosphotransferase is a kinase that catalyzes the transfer of the phosphate group of ATP to hygromycin B. Phosphorylated hygromycin B loses its growth inhibitory activity (Rao, et al. 1983).

PLBs (tissue cultures called protocorm-like bodies) of PP3387 phalaenopsis which is the host of 311NR phalaenopsis are also sensitive to hygromycin B. On the other hand, PLBs of recombinant plants expressing hygromycin B phosphotransferase are resistant to hygromycin B. Therefore, PLBs of recombinant plants can be selected by culturing them on medium containing hygromycin B.

#### IV.A.1.(d) Other Gene Function Information

The *ori*V gene from the RK2 plasmid and the *trfA* gene are elements necessary to for the function of the origin of replication, which contributes to the replication and maintenance of the plasmid in *E. coli* and *Agrobacterium*. The *traF* gene from the RK2 plasmid has a function required for plasmid transfer, but this function was not used for the development of 311NR phalaenopsis.

The aminoglycoside phosphotransferase III (*aphA-3*) gene of *Streptococcus faecalis* confers resistance to kanamycin. This resistance was used as a selection marker gene for the construction vector in *E. coli* and *Agrobacterium*. Additionally, transposase 1 (*IS1*) is inserted between 5' terminal untranslated region and coding sequence of the *aphA-3* gene.

#### **IV.A.2.** Method for Preparing Living Modified Organisms

The position, direction, and restriction enzyme sites of the constituent elements of the donor nucleic acids in plasmid pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H is shown in Figure 4. Sequence introduced into plant

genome is 5,391 bp from middle of RB to middle of LB. Table 2 lists the genetic elements of the plasmid.

Genetic Element	Location in the	Function (Reference)	
OriV	1-618	Origin of replication from plasmid RK2 providing replication and maintenance of the	
Intonyoning Soquence	610-064	plasmid in broader nosts including <i>E. coll</i> and <i>R. radiobacter</i> .	
aphA-2.5' pop-coding	019-904	Synthetic	
	505-1315	3)from Streptococcus faecalis (S. faecalis)	
IS1	1316-2085	Transposase 1 of <i>E. coli</i> .	
aphA-3 coding	2086-3078	Coding sequence of neo gene from <i>S. faecalis</i> encoding aminoglycoside phosphotransferase type III that phosphorylases and inactivates kanamycin. The <i>aphA</i> -3 coding sequence was used as a selection marker in <i>F. coli</i> and <i>R. radiobacter</i> .	
trfA	3079-4560	Sequence from plasmid RK2 necessary for oriV.	
Intervening Sequence	4561-5618	Synthetic	
RB	5619-5780	DNA fragment containing the right border region derived from <i>R. radiobacter</i> . Part of RB is not inserted into the transformation plant (Barker, et al. 1983).	
Intervening Sequence	5781-5812	Synthetic	
P35S	5813-6235	Promoter of the 35S RNA of the cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV). The CaMV genome is a circular double-stranded DNA which contains the genes necessary for expression in 311NR phalaenopsis. The 35S promoter confers constitutive expression across growth stages (Mitsuhara et al. 1996).	
Intervening Sequence	6236-6244	Synthetic	
hpt	6245-7270	Hygromycin B phosphotransferase of <i>Escherichia coli</i> ( <i>E. coli</i> ), which phosphorylates and inactivates hygromycin B. Plant cells expressing the phosphotransferase have resistance to hygromycin B. (Gritz and Davies 1983).	
Intervening Sequence	7271-7290	Synthetic	
TNOS	7291-8415	Terminator of 3' terminal untranslated region of the nopaline synthase gene from Ti plasmid of <i>Rhizobium radiobacter</i> ( <i>R. radiobacter</i> ) encoding nopaline synthase. <i>TNOS</i> contains a poly A sequence and terminates upstream elements. (Bevan, Flavell and Chilton 1983).	
Intervening Sequence	8416-8485	Synthetic	
P35S	8486-8852	Promoter of the 35S RNA of the cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV). The CaMV genome is a circular double-stranded DNA which contains the genes necessary for expression in 311NR phalaenopsis. The 35S promoter confers constitutive expression across growth stages. (Mitsuhara, et al. 1996)	
Intervening Sequence	8853-8869	Synthetic	
TMV-omega	8870-8928	5' terminal untranslated region of Tobacco Mosaic Virus (TMV) omega sequence. The omega leader mRNA with the 5' untranslated region (UTR) enhances translation. (Gallie and Walbot 1992).	
Intervening Sequence	8929-8938	Synthetic	
CcF3'5'H	8939-10462	Complementary DNA (cDNA) of flavonoid 3', 5'-hydroxylase (F3'5'H) of Asiatic dayflower ( <i>Commelina communis</i> L.). The enzyme encoded by cDNA hydroxylates positions 3' and 5' in the B ring of dihydroflavonol, and converts naringenin or eriodyctiol to 5, 7, 3', 4', 5'-pentahydorxyflavanone, or converts dihydrokaempferol dihydroquercetin to dihydromyricetin (Holton and Cornish 1995) which is the gene of interest in 311NR phalaenopsis.	
Intervening Sequence	10463-10478	Synthetic	
T35S	10479-11035	Terminator of the 3' terminal untranslated region of 35S RNA of the cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV), which contains a polyA sequence and terminates transcription of upstream elements. (Pietrzak, et al. 1986).	
Intervening Sequence	11036-11068	Synthetic	
LB	11069-11216	DNA fragment containing the left border region derived from <i>R. radiobacter</i> . Part of the left border is not inserted into the transformation plant (Barker, et al. 1983).	
Intervening Sequence	11217-13200	Synthetic	
traF	13201-13984	Sequence from plasmid RK2 for plasmid transposition	
Intervening Sequence	13985-13996	Synthetic	

### Table 2. Genetic Elements of pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H

# IV.B. Identity and Source of the *CcF3'5'H* and *hpt* Gene Cassettes in Plasmid pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H

#### IV.B.1. Source of the CcF3'5'H Gene

#### Commelina communis: Donor of the CcF3'5'H Gene

Order: Commelinales Family: Commelinaceae Genus: *Commelina* Species: *C. communis* 

*Commelina communis* is commonly known as the Asiatic Dayflower. It is a fast-growing herbaceous summer annual of the Spiderwort family (Commelinaceae). It is native throughout East Asia and northern parts of Southeast Asia and is considered a weed in many parts of the world, especially in temperate and subtropical regions. *Commelina communis* can be found throughout the eastern and central United States and is common in states with warm, humid climates.

#### IV.B.2. Source of the hpt Gene

#### Escherichia coli: Donor of the hpt Gene

Class: Gammaproteobacteria Order: Enterobacterales Family: Enterobacteriaceae Genus: *Escherichia* Species: *E. coli* 

*Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) is a gram-negative, facultative anaerobic, rod-shaped coliform bacterium. It is commonly found in the lower intestine of warm-blooded organisms. A good portion of *E. coli* strains are part of the normal microbiota of the gut and are mostly harmless or can even be beneficial to humans.

# V. Genetic Characterization of 311NR Phalaenopsis

### V.A. Molecular Analysis Overview

Molecular characterization of genetically engineered events determines the insertion copy number, integrity of the insertion, and absence of plasmid DNA unintended for integration. 311NR phalaenopsis plants were characterized by Southern analysis to determine the number of insertions within the plant genome, integrity of the insert, confirm the stable genetic inheritance of the inserted cassettes, and to confirm the absence of plasmid backbone sequences. Sequence information is provided in Appendix 5. Sequence Information.

## V.B. Southern Analysis, Copy Number, Integrity, Absence of Vector Backbone Sequence

#### V.B.1. Southern Blot Analysis for Copy Number

Southern blot analysis was performed to confirm the presence and copy number of insertions in the genomic DNA from leaf tissue of original line 311 phalaenopsis (Figure 2). Southern blot methods for copy number are presented in Appendix 2. Materials and Methods for Southern Blot Analysis.

Two Southern blots were produced in this experiment. Blot A (Figure 6) shows results using the *hpt* gene-specific probe. Blot B (Figure 6) shows results using the *CcF3'5'H* gene-specific probe. Location of probes and restriction sites used in Southern blot analysis of copy number are indicated in Figure 7.

A single band of 5-6 kilobases (kb) in size was detected in blots of *EcoRI*-digested DNA from the genomic DNA of the original 311 phalaenopsis line and a single band of 7-8 kb was detected in blots of *NdeI*-digested DNA, whether using the *hpt* gene specific probe or a *CcF3'5'H* gene specific probe (Figure 6). Therefore, it is determined that one copy of the *hpt* gene and one copy of the *CcF3'5'H* gene were inserted into the 311 phalaenopsis line.

Location of probes and restriction sites used in Southern analysis are indicated in Figure 7.



#### Figure 6. Southern Blot Analysis of 311NR Phalaenopsis

Figure 6A shows results of Southern blot analysis with the *hpt* gene-specific probe with DIG label. Figure 6B shows results of Southern blot analysis with the *CcF3'5'H* gene-specific probe with DIG label. Lane 1 in Figures 6A and 6B were run with *Eco*RI-digested DNA. Lane 2 in Figures 6A and 6B were run with *Nde*I-digested DNA.



#### Figure 7. Locations of Probes and Restriction Sites in 311NR Insert

Numbers below restriction enzyme names represent the positions of each restriction site when the nucleotide at the 5' terminal end of the insert (at the right border) is set to position 1. The total length of the insert is 5,391 bp. Black bars indicated "probes for copy number' are probes used to determine copy number. Black bars indicated "probes for stability" were used to determine stability of the insert across 3 clones of the 311 line.

Based on the results of this analysis, one copy of the *hpt* gene and one copy of the *CcF3'5'H* gene were inserted into the original 311 phalaenopsis line.

### V.B.2. Southern Blot Analysis for Generational Stability of the Insert in 311NR Phalaenopsis

Three clone seedlings (311WL, 311NR, and 311TL) developed from the original line 311 (see Figure 2) were used for Southern blot analysis of generational stability of the insert. Southern blot analysis was performed using DNA extracted from leaf samples of the three clone seedlings to confirm presence and copy number of the insert for comparison to the original 311 line. Methods of analysis are presented in Appendix 2. Materials and Methods for Southern Blot Analysis.

#### Study A: CcF3'5'H gene specific probe analysis of line 311 clones

A single band of 5-6 kb in size was detected in Southern blots of the three clones (311WL, 311NR, and 311TL). This is the same band detected in the blot of the *CcF3'5'H* gene-specific probe from line 311 (see Figure 6B).

#### Study B: hpt gene specific probe analysis of line 311 clones

A single band of 10-15 kb in size was detected in a Southern blot of line 311 using the *hpt* genespecific probe. A single band of the same size (10-15 kb) was also detected in blots of all three clone seedlings (311WL, 311NR, and 311TL). No band was detected in the PP3387 phalaenopsis non-GE control using any probes.





Lane	Sample
1	PP3387 control
2	Line 311
3	Clone 311WL
4	Clone 311NR
5	Clone 311TL

Figure 8A shows results of the *CcF3'5'H* gene-specific probe with a DIG label. Figure 8B shows results of the *hpt* gene-specific probe with a DIG label.

Based on the results presented in this section, the insert in line 311 is stably inherited and maintains its structure and copy number across three clone seedlings (311WL, 311NR, and 311TL) developed from line 311.

### V.B.3. Southern Blot Analysis for Confirmation of Absence of Vector Backbone Sequence

Southern blot analysis was performed to confirm the absence of vector backbone sequence in the genomic DNA of a leaf sample of line 311.

Probes used in the analysis are presented in Figure 9. Please see Appendix 2. Materials and Methods for Southern Blot Analysis for details regarding this experiment.



Figure 9. Location of Probes Used for Backbone Southern Blot Analysis of *Phalaenopsis* Line 311

A single band was detected in blots with each probe when plasmid pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H was used as a template. No bands were observed in any blot with line 311 genomic DNA (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Southern Blot Analysis for Confirmation of Absence of Backbone Sequence in Line 311

Lane ID	Sample
311	Genomic DNA of Line 311
Р	pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H Plasmid DNA

Based on the results of this experiment, line 311 does not contain *Agrobacterium* backbone sequence from plasmid pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H used for transformation.

### V.C. Polymerase Chain Reaction Analysis

#### V.C.1. PCR Analysis for Presence/Absence of Transgenes

PCR analysis was performed to confirm presence or absence of transgenes in genomic DNA extracted from flower, leaf, and root samples of line 311. See Appendix 1. PCR Methods for details regarding methods used for PCR analysis.

Figure 11 shows results of the PCR analysis of the *CcF3'5'H* and *hpt* genes in flower, leaf, and root tissues of 311NR phalaenopsis. Phalaenopsis chalcone isomerase (CHI) was used as a positive control for assay quality control. The non-GE comparator PP3387 was used as a negative control.

PCR analysis confirmed the presence of transgenes *CcF3'5'H* and *hpt* in flower, leaf, and root samples of line 311.



#### Figure 11. PCR for Transgenes in the Flower, Leaf, and Root Tissues of Original Line 311

Lane	Tissue	Gene
1		Gamma DNA/HindIII marker
2	Flower (Sepal)	CcF3′5′H
3	Flower (Sepal)	hpt
4	Flower (Sepal)	Phalaenopsis chalcone CHI
5	Leaf	CcF3′5′H
6	Leaf	hpt
7	Leaf	Phalaenopsis chalcone CHI
8	Root	CcF3′5′H
9	Root	hpt
10	Root	Phalaenopsis chalcone CHI
11	PP3387 (control) Leaf	CcF3′5′H
12	PP3387 (control) Leaf	hpt
13	PP3387 (control) Leaf	Phalaenopsis chalcone CHI
14		100-bp DNA Ladder

#### V.C.2. RT-PCR Analysis for Stability of Gene Expression in Petal and Leaf Tissues

Expression of the *CcF3'5'H* and *hpt* genes in petal and leaf tissues of original line 311 and three clone seedlings (311WL, 311NR, and 311TL) was measured using RT-PCR.

Figure 12 shows the results of the RT- PCR analysis of the *CcF3'5'H* and *hpt* genes in petal tissues and Figure 13 shows the results of RT-PCR analysis of the *CcF3'5'H* and *hpt* genes in leaf tissues of 311WL, 311NR, and 311TL phalaenopsis. Phalaenopsis chalcone isomerase (CHI) was used as a positive control for assay quality control. The non-GE comparator PP3387 was used as a negative control.

RT-PCR method is presented in Appendix 1. PCR Methods.



Figure 12. RT-PCR Analysis of Expression of Transgenes in Petals of *Phalaenopsis Line* 311 Clones 311WL, 311NR, and 311TL

Lane	Sample	Gene
1	Gamma DNA/HindIII Marker	
2	PP3387 Petal	CcF3'5'H
3	PP3387 Petal	hpt
4	PP3387 Petal	Phalaenopsis CHI
5	Line 311 Petal	CcF3'5'H
6	Line 311 Petal	hpt
7	Line 311 Petal	Phalaenopsis CHI
8	311WL Petal	CcF3′5′H
9	311WL Petal	hpt
10	311WL Petal	Phalaenopsis CHI
11	311NR Petal	CcF3'5'H
12	311NR Petal	hpt
13	311NR Petal	Phalaenopsis CHI
14	311TL Petal	CcF3'5'H
15	311TL Petal	hpt
16	311TL Petal	Phalaenopsis CHI
17	100-bp DNA Ladder	



Figure 13. RT-PCR Analysis of Expression of Transgenes in Leaf of *Phalaenopsis* Line 311 Clones 311WL, 311NR, and 311TL

Lane	Sample	Gene
1	Gamma DNA/HindIII Marker	
2	PP3387 Leaf	СсF3′5′Н
3	PP3387 Leaf	hpt
4	PP3387 Leaf	Phalaenopsis CHI
5	Line 311 Leaf	СсF3′5′Н
6	Line 311 Leaf	hpt
7	Line 311 Leaf	Phalaenopsis CHI
8	311WL Leaf	СсF3'5'Н
9	311WL Leaf	hpt
10	311WL Leaf	Phalaenopsis CHI
11	311NR Leaf	СсF3′5′Н
12	311NR Leaf	hpt
13	311NR Leaf	Phalaenopsis CHI
14	311TL Leaf	СсF3'5'Н
15	311TL Leaf	hpt
16	311TL Leaf	Phalaenopsis CHI
17	100-bp DNA Ladder	

Based on the results of the RT-PCR analysis, the expression of the *CcF3'5'H* and *hpt* genes are confirmed in petal and leaf tissues of line 311.
#### V.D. Resistance to hygromycin B in Protocorm Like Bodies of 311NR Phalaenopsis

Protocorm like bodies (PLBs) of 311NR phalaenopsis and the PP3387 phalaenopsis were cultivated on agar medium containing hygromycin B to determine resistance to hygromycin B for 10 weeks at 25°C.

Please see Appendix 3. Materials and Methods for Determination of Hygromycin Resistance in PLBs for details regarding this experiment.

The PLBs of the non-GE comparator PP3387 began to die after 4 weeks, and all PLBs died after 7 weeks of cultivation.

The PLBs of the 311NR line grew throughout the 10-week experiment. 9 PLBs produced new buds and grew into a clump (Figure 14).

Based on the results of this experiment, it was confirmed that 311NR phalaenopsis stably expresses hygromycin B phosphotransferase even after clone reproduction through tissue culture.



#### Figure 14. PLBs on agar medium with hygromycin B after 10 weeks of cultivation

Figure 14A shows PLBs from the PP3387 host plant. Figure 14B shows PLBs from 311NR phalaenopsis.

# V.E. Confirmation of the Absence of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* in 311NR Phalaenopsis

#### V.E.1. Southern Blot Analysis of Line 311 to Determine Absence of Agrobacterium

Southern blot analysis was performed to confirm the absence of *Agrobacterium* vector backbone in a genomic DNA sample obtained from leaf tissue of line 311 (Figure 10).

Please see Appendix 2. Materials and Methods for Southern Blot Analysis for details regarding this experiment.

Southern blot analysis showed that line 311 does not contain *Agrobacterium* backbone sequence from plasmid pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H used for transformation (Figure 10).

#### V.E.2. PCR Analysis of Line 311 to Determine Absence of Agrobacterium

PCR analysis was used to confirm the absence of *Agrobacterium* used for the transformation of original line 311. Analysis targeted the aminoglycoside phosphotransferase III (*aphA-3*) gene which is in the non T-DNA region of plasmid pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H (Figure 3). DNA was extracted from flower, leaf, and root tissue of the T0 generation of line 311 (Figure 2).

Please see Appendix 1. PCR Methods for details regarding analysis.

PCR analysis confirmed that the same expected sizes of amplicons (565 bp) were observed in plasmid DNA of pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H but not in flower, leaf and root tissue of the line 311 (Figure 15). Based on the results of this experiment, the *Agrobacterium* used for transformation is absent in flower, leaf and root tissue of line 311.





Figure 15. Agrobacterium PCR Results Using aphA-3 Gene Probe

Lane	Sample
1	(empty)
2	Gamma DNA/HindIII marker
3	Flower (sepal) of line 311
4	Leaf of line 311
5	Root of line 311
6	pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H
7	100-bp DNA ladder
8	(empty)

# V.E.3. Colony Formation Assay for Confirmation of Absence of Agrobacterium tumefaciens in Line 311NR

Seedlings of the 311NR phalaenopsis line were tested for the presence of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* using a colony formation assay on agar plates.

Seedlings of 311NR phalaenopsis were ground and spread on Luria-Bertani (LB) agar media. Number of *Agrobacterium* colonies were counted after incubation at 28°C for 3 days.

Methods of analysis are presented in Appendix 4. Materials and Methods for Determination of Agrobacterium Presence Using Agar Plates.

A sample of the *Agrobacterium* line used for transformation of the 311 line was used as a positive control.

#### 311NR No. 1



311NR No. 2



311NR No. 3



#### Figure 16. 311NR Phalaenopsis on LB Agar

Figure Legend: 311 NR No.1 – clone number 1; 311 NR No.2 – clone number 2; 311 NR No.3 – clone number 3. All clones were prepared from a 311 NR seedling.

After 3 days of incubation, no colonies were observed on the LB media plates (Figure 16). The positive control sample did show growth after 3 days, indicating a viable experiment (Figure 17).

#### Agrobacterium used for transformation



Figure 17. Agrobacterium on LB Agar

Based on the results of this experiment, the 311NR line does not contain residual *Agrobacterium* from transformation.

#### V.F. Conclusions on the Molecular Characterization and Genetic Stability of 311NR Phalaenopsis

Southern blot, PCR, RT-PCR, and colony formation assays were conducted to characterize the insertion in 311NR phalaenopsis.

Southern blot confirmed that a single intact pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H T-DNA was inserted into the 311 phalaenopsis line genome and the integrity of the inserted DNA was maintained across three line 311 clones (311WL, 311NR, 311TL). Southern blots and a colony formation assay confirmed no plasmid backbone sequences were incorporated into line 311 and clone 311NR.

PCR analysis confirmed the presence of the *CcF3'5'H* and *hpt* genes in line 311. RT-PCR showed expression of the *CcF3'5'H* and *hpt* genes in line 311 clones 311WL, 311NR, and 311TL.

Together, these analyses demonstrate the presence of a single, intact stable T-DNA insertion with no plasmid backbone sequences.

### VI. Morphological, Growth Characteristics and Ecological Observations

Morphological, growth characteristics, and ecological observations were evaluated to assess the comparability of 311NR phalaenopsis to the PP3387 non-GE comparator phalaenopsis. These

evaluations form the basis to determine whether 311NR phalaenopsis is comparable to a conventional (non-GE) phalaenopsis and is therefore no more likely to pose a plant pest risk.

#### VI.A. Morphological and Growth Characteristic Field Trial

A study was conducted in a confined field trial location at the Tsukuba Plant Innovation Research Center (T-PIRC), University of Tsukuba (Tsukuba, Ibaraki, Japan) from March to June 2019. The study utilized 25 comparator (PP3387) plants and 17 311NR phalaenopsis plants. Table 3 presents the characteristics and how they were measured in the field trial.

Table 3. Characteristics Measured in Phalaenopsis Confined Field Trial

Characteristic	Measurement
Date of flowering	Date when 50% of plants blooming at first
	inflorescence.
Plant length	Taken at date of flowering. Plant length from
	ground to top of inflorescence.
Number of inflorescences	Measured at date of flowering
Shape of inflorescences	Measured at date of flowering
Number of flowers per inflorescence	Measured at date of flowering
Length and width of largest leaf	Measured at date of flowering
Flower width (front view)	Measured at date of flowering
Flower length (front view)	Measured at date of flowering
Number of pollinia	Measured at date of flowering
Size of pollinia	Measured at date of flowering

#### VI.A.1. Date of Flowering

Table 4 shows date of flowering data for the non-GE comparator PP3387 and the 311NR phalaenopsis plants.

No difference in date of flowering is observed for PP3387 and 311NR phalaenopsis.

#### Table 4. Date of Flowering for PP3387 and 311NR Phalaenopsis

Plant	Date of Flowering
PP3387	May 1 – June 5, 2019
311NR	April 22 – June 10, 2019

#### VI.A.2. Plant Length

Table 5 shows results from measurement of plant length for PP3387 and 311NR phalaenopsis. The mean values in plant length of 311NR phalaenopsis were statistically significantly shorter than plant length of the comparator PP3387 (student t-test, p = 0.05).

#### Table 5. Plant Length for PP3387 and 311NR Phalaenopsis

Plant	Plant Length (cm)
PP3387	52.2 ± 8.6
311NR	39.3 ± 11.7*

\*Statistically significant difference (Student t-test, p = 0.05)

The values for 311NR and PP3387 are shown as mean values ± standard deviation of 17 and 24 plants, respectively.

#### VI.A.3. Number of Inflorescences

Table 6 shows number of inflorescences in 311NR phalaenopsis and the PP3387 comparator. The number of inflorescences in 311NR phalaenopsis is statistically significantly smaller than that of the PP3387 comparator.

#### Table 6. Number of Inflorescences in PP3387 and 311NR Phalaenopsis

Plant/Number of Inflorescences	1	2	3	Mean*
PP3387	6 plants	17 plants	1 plant	1.8±0.5
311NR	16 plants	3 plants	0 plants	1.1±0.2*

\*Statistically significant difference (Student t-test, p = 0.05)

The values for 311NR and PP3387 are shown as mean value ± standard deviation of 17 and 24 plants, respectively.

#### VI.A.4. Shape of Inflorescences and Number of Flowers per Inflorescence

Table 7 shows results from evaluation of the shape of inflorescence and number of flowers per inflorescence for 311NR and PP3387 comparator.

No statistically significant difference in shape or number of flowers per inflorescence was observed between 311NR phalaenopsis and the comparator PP3387.

# Table 7. Shape of Inflorescences and Number of Flowers per Inflorescence in PP3387and 311NR Phalaenopsis

Plant	Shape of Inflorescence	Number of Flowers per Inflorescence
PP3387	Raceme or panicle	16.1 ±6.3
311NR	Raceme or panicle	17.3 ±5.7

Values are shown as mean values  $\pm$  standard deviation calculated from 17 plants of 311NR and 24 plants of PP3387. Statistical analysis was conducted using Student's t-test with p = 0.05.

#### VI.A.5. Length and Width of the Largest Leaf

Table 8 shows results from the measurement of the length and width of the largest leaf of 311NR phalaenopsis and PP3387 comparator plants.

The size of the largest leaf (length and width) of 311NR phalaenopsis was statistically significantly smaller than that of the PP3387 comparator (Welch t-test for length, Student's t-test for width, p = 0.05).

Diant	Largest Leaf	
Plant	Length (cm)	Width (cm)
PP3387	20.7±2.3	7.1±0.4
311NR	19.0±1.2*	6.7±0.5*

#### Table 8. Length and Width of Largest Leaf for PP3387 and 311NR

\*Statistically significant difference (Welch t-test for length, Student's t-test for width, p = 0.05) Values are shown as mean values ± standard deviation calculated from 17 plants of 311NR and 24 plants of PP3387.

#### VI.A.6. Flower Width and Length

Table 9 shows the flower width and length (as viewed from the front of the plant) for the PP3387 comparator and 311NR phalaenopsis plants.

Flower width and flower length (as viewed from the front of the plant) of 311NR phalaenopsis was statistically larger than PP3387 phalaenopsis.

#### Table 9. Flower Width and Length of PP3387 and 311NR Phalaenopsis

Diant		Flower	
Plant	Length (cm)	Width (cm)	
PP3387	6.1±0.3	5.9±0.3	
311NR	6.5±0.4*	6.2±0.5	

\*Statistically significant difference with PP3387 (Welch t-test for length, Student's t-test for width, p = 0.05) Values are shown as mean values ± standard deviation calculated from 17 plants of 311NR and 24 plants of PP3387.

#### VI.A.7. Number and Size of Pollinia

Table 10 shows the number and size of pollinia for the PP3387 comparator and 311NR phalaenopsis plants.

All flowers of the PP3387 plants had two pollinia. The 311NR plant had sixteen flowers with two pollinia and one flower with four pollinia. No statistically significant difference was observed between PP3387 and 311NR for number of pollinia.

No statistically significant difference was observed between PP3387 and 311NR for size of pollinia.

Dlant	Pollinia		
Plant	Number of Pollinia Diameter (mm)		
PP3387	2.0±0.0	0.92±0.07	
311NR	2.1±0.5	0.96±0.05	

#### Table 10. Number and Size of Pollinia of PP3387 and 311NR Phalaenopsis

The values for number of pollinia are shown as mean values  $\pm$  standard deviation calculated from 17 plants of 311NR and 25 plants of PP3387. The values for pollinia diameter are shown as mean values  $\pm$  standard deviation calculated from 15 plants of 311NR and 24 plants of PP3387. Statistical analysis was conducted by Student's t-test with p = 0.05.

#### **VI.B. Ecological Evaluations**

#### VI.B.1. Seed Production Ability by Self-Pollination

Table 11 shows results from evaluation of the ability to produce seed by self-pollination for 311NR phalaenopsis and the comparator PP3387 phalaenopsis.

A study was conducted in a confined field in T-PIRC, University of Tsukuba (Tsukuba, Ibaraki, Japan) from May to June in 2019. Artificial self-pollination was performed for 5 plants of PP3387 and 311NR phalaenopsis. Flowers (seed capsules) were observed until plant senescence.

Self-pollinated flowers of PP3387 and 311NR plants were considered senescent 2 weeks after pollination. No seed capsules developed as a result of artificial self-pollination.

Plant	Number of self-pollinated	Number of senescent flowers
	flowers	at 2 weeks after pollination
PP3387	25	25
311NR	25	25

Table 11	Number of	f Self-Pollinated	Flowers for	PP3387 ar	nd 311NR P	halaenonsis
	. Number of	i Seu-Foumateu	1 10 10 10 101	FF 5507 ai		nataenopsis

No difference in self-pollinated flowers was observed for PP3387 and 311NR phalaenopsis.

#### VI.B.2. Seedling Cold Tolerance

Cold tolerance of seedling plants of 311NR phalaenopsis and comparator PP3387 was investigated in a confined field trial study at T-PRIC, University of Tsukuba (Tsukuba, Ibaraki, Japan) from December 2018 to February 2019.

Five potted seedlings of PP3387 and 311NR phalaenopsis were used for this study and were grown at the central research institute of Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Ltd. (Kusatsu, Shiga, Japan). After 10 days of acclimation in a grass house, seedlings were transferred to a confined field and observed from December 10, 2018, through February 27, 2019.

# Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited 311NR phalaenopsis

Photographs were taken on February 27 and analyzed for plant cold tolerance. Temperature and humidity were recorded during trial (Figure 19).

Leaves of PP3387 and 311NR became soft and wilted and changed from bright green to dark green color after 3 days in the confined field trial conditions. After 15 days, leaves were fading in color and leaves were wrinkled (Figure 18(b)). After 23 days, leaves had lost further color and base color of leaves became brown in nature (Figure 18(c)). Leaves were completely senescent after 51 days (Figure 18(d)). Complete plant senescence was determined at 79 days (Figure 18(e)).



Figure 18. Seedlings of PP3387 and 311NR in the Confined Field Trial for Cold Tolerance

(a) Day 1, (b) Day 15, (c) Day 23, (d) Day 51, (e) Day 79



Figure 19. Ambient Temperature and Humidity During Cold Tolerance Field Trial

There was no difference observed in damage and growth inhibition between PP3387 and 311NR phalaenopsis during the study. Therefore, it is not likely that there is any difference between 311NR and PP3387 phalaenopsis in cold tolerance.

#### VI.B.3. Seedling Heat Tolerance

Heat tolerance of seedling plants of 311NR phalaenopsis and comparator PP3387 was investigated in a confined field trial study at T-PRIC, University of Tsukuba (Tsukuba, Ibaraki, Japan) from June to September 2019.

Five potted seedlings of PP3387 and 311NR phalaenopsis were used for this study and were grown at the central research institute of Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Ltd. (Kusatsu, Shiga, Japan). After 5 days of acclimation in a grass house, seedlings were transferred to a confined field and observed from June 25 through September 1, 2019.

Photographs were taken on regular intervals and ended by September 1. Photos were analyzed for plant heat tolerance (Figure 22). Temperature and humidity were recorded during the trial (Figures 20 and 21).

Seedlings were grown in a glass house during the month of July as higher than average rain occurred during that month. In early July, temperature averaged 20°C which is not high enough to evaluate heat tolerance (Figure 20). After July 24, the temperature average rose above 30°C and seedlings were moved outside for observation (Figure 21).





Figure 20. Temperature and Humidity Measurements at Field Trial Site (June 25 – July 31)

# Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited 311NR phalaenopsis





# Figure 21. Temperature and Humidity Measurements at Field Trial Site (August 1 – September 9)

Heat damage such as leaf yellowing was observed in PP3387 and 311NR at 37 days (approximately 1 week of heat treatment) after initiation of the study. At day 65, the majority of 311NR phalaenopsis plants were senescent. The PP3387 plants tolerated heat treatment throughout the study, with yellowing beginning at day 37 and continuing through day 65 (Figure 22).



#### Figure 22. Seedlings of PP3387 and 311NR Phalaenopsis in Heat Treatment Experiment

Picture (a) – June 25, 2019 (Day 1), (b) August 1, 2019 (Day 37), and (c) August 29, 2019 (day 65)

Based on the results of this study, it is concluded that the heat tolerance of 311NR phalaenopsis seedlings is lower than the control PP3387 plants. It is possible that somaclonal variation is contributing to this difference.

# VI.C. Conclusions on Morphological and Growth Characteristics, and Ecological Observations.

#### VI.C.1. Morphological and Growth Characteristics

The morphological and growth characteristics of 311NR phalaenopsis was investigated by comparison to the comparator PP3387 line. Date of flowering, plant length, number of inflorescences, shape and number of flowers per inflorescence, flower width, and flower length observations were collected and statistically analyzed.

No statistical differences were observed in date of flowering, number of flowers per inflorescence, number of pollinia, and size of pollinia for PP3387 and 311NR phalaenopsis.

Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited 311NR phalaenopsis

Statistical differences were observed in plant length (311NR is shorter), number of inflorescences (311NR has fewer), size of the largest leaf (311NR is smaller), and flower length and width (311NR is larger).

Taken overall, it is unlikely that the statistically different morphology observations have an effect that would cause 311NR phalaenopsis to have altered disease, unintended pest susceptibilities, or to become weedy or invasive. The differences observed are small and most are due to smaller plant and leaf size – two traits that are not directly connected to weediness characteristics.

#### VI.C.2. Ecological Observations

Ecological observations of 311NR phalaenopsis were collected and compared to the comparator PP3387 line. Self-pollination capacity, cold tolerance, and heat tolerance were tested in controlled field trials.

No statistical differences were noted in seed capsule development and cold tolerance. As statistically different result occurred in the heat tolerance study.

Taken overall, it is unlikely that the statistically different ecological observations have an effect that would cause 311NR phalaenopsis to have altered disease, unintended pest susceptibilities, or to become weedy or invasive. The difference observed in the heat tolerance indicates that the 311NR phalaenopsis is less likely to survive elevated temperature making it less likely to become weedy.

# VII. Potential Environmental Impact of the Introduction of 311NR Phalaenopsis

#### VII.A. Potential for 311NR Phalaenopsis to Have Altered Disease and Unintended Pest Susceptibilities or to Become Weedy or Invasive

Weedy plants have been characterized by a variety of ecological, reproductive, and morphological traits. These traits typically enable them to thrive in disturbed environments. Increased reproductive capacity, producing large numbers of seeds, and easy seed dispersal are traits associated with weediness (Morishita n.d.). This trait was not observed in the comparison of self-pollination of 311NR phalaenopsis and the PP3387 comparator plant.

The ability to adapt in response to environmental changes is also a characteristic of weedy plants (Morishita n.d.). Adjustment of growth patterns, reproductive methods, and other strategies have been noted in weedy plants. The 311NR phalaenopsis did not differ in cold tolerance when compared to the PP3387 comparator, indicating no increased ability to compete with non-GE phalaenopsis. In the case of heat tolerance, 311NR showed less tolerance to increased temperature – an indicator that it is not likely to grow in hot environments.

#### VII.B. Potential for Gene Flow Between 311NR Phalaenopsis and Sexually Compatible Wild Relatives

*Phalaenopsis* orchids are not native to the United States. *Phalaenopsis* is primarily native to Southeast Asia, including the Philippines, Indonesia, Taiwan, Malaysia, and parts of China. They prefer tropical and subtropical climates and often grow as epiphytes in humid forests.

Crossbreeding *Phalaenopsis* orchids with orchids native to the United States is unlikely due to genetic and reproductive barriers.

*Phalaenopsis* belongs to the subtribe of Aeridinae, while many United States native orchids belong to different subtribes such as Cypripedioideae. The disparity in taxonomy between *Phalaenopsis* and orchids native to the U.S. makes intergeneric hybridization a challenge (Orchidboard 2025).

Additionally, orchids have specialized pollination mechanisms. Hybridization is more likely among closely related species with overlapping flowering periods and similar (or compatible) pollination strategies. In the case of hybridization of *Phalaenopsis* with U.S. native orchids, these factors are not expected to align, preventing natural hybridization.

Horticulturists have successfully created hybrids within the *Phalaenopsis* genus and closely related species. Crossing *Phalaenopsis* with distantly related U.S. native orchids has not been documented and would likely face significant genetic compatibility issues. It was demonstrated in the self-pollination experiment in this document that developing viable seed pods is difficult (Table 11).

Unless closely related, using similar pollination strategies, and in the right environment, it is unlikely that 311NR phalaenopsis will outcross to native United States orchids.

#### VII.C. Phalaenopsis 311NR and Pollinators

In the wild, Phalaenopsis flowers are primarily pollinated by bees and wasps (in the order of Hymenoptera), but pollination by organisms in the orders of Lepidoptera, Diptera, Coleoptera have also been observed (Ray and Vendrame 2015). Flower color is involved, but orchids, in general, have evolved forms of deception to attract pollinators such as physical appearance of insect mating partners and/or chemical cues (Ray and Vendrame 2015). Due to these adapted phenotypes, a change in flower color is unlikely to deter pollination by Hymenopteran insects.

Bees and wasps do not rely on orchids as their only source of food. Insects in the order Hymenoptera are known to pollinate over 100 commercial crops in North America (including almonds vegetables, fruits and soybeans) and many wild plants (Hristov et al., 2020). A change in flower color is not likely to cause any harm to the feeding potential to Hymenopterian insects.

### **VIII. Adverse Consequences of Introduction**

The information presented in this petition demonstrates that 311NR phalaenopsis is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk as compared to non-GE phalaenopsis. The analysis of molecular data confirmed the insertion of one copy of the pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H T-DNA, containing the *CcF3'5'H* and *hpt* genes. The pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H T-DNA is intact and is stably integrated into the 311NR genome.

Measurement of morphological, growth, and ecological characteristics showed no likely difference when compared to non-GE Phalaenopsis.

The data and information presented herein supports the conclusion that 311NR phalaenopsis does not present a plant pest risk and is not otherwise deleterious to the environment. Therefore, ISK requests that APHIS grant the request for a determination of nonregulated status for 311NR phalaenopsis, 311NR phalaenopsis progeny, and any crosses of 311NR phalaenopsis with other nonregulated phalaenopsis.

### IX. Bibliography

- American Orchid Society. n.d. *Phalaenopsis, The Genus Beginner's Handbook XXII.* Accessed March 2025. https://www.aos.org/orchid-care/orchid-care-and-culturesheets/phalaenopsis-culture-sheet/phalaenopsis-the-genus.
- Barker, R.F., K.B. Idler, D.V. Thompson, and J.D. Kemp. 1983. "Nucleotide sequence of the T-DNA region from the Agrobacterium tumefaciens octopine Ti plasmid pTi15955." *Plant Molecular Biology* 335-350.
- Bevan, M W, R B Flavell, and M D Chilton. 1983. "A chimaeric antibiotic resistance gene as a selectable marker for plant cell transformation." *Biotechnology* 367-370.
- Bottom, S. 2024. "Orchid Pests and Why They Matter." *The Bulletin of the American Orchid Society.*
- Brickell, C., and Zuk, J.D. 1997. *The American Horticultural Society A-Z Encyclopedia of Garden Plants.* DK Publishins.
- Cabanas, M.J., D. Vazquez, and J. Modolell. 1978. "Dual interference of hygromycin B with ribosomal translocation and with aminoacyl-tRNA recognition." *European Journal of Biochemistry* 21-27.
- Chen, Po-Yen, Wang Chen-Kuen, Soong Shaw-Ching, and To Kin-Ying. 2003. "Complete Sequence of the binary vector pBI121 and its application in cloning T-DNA insertion from transgenic traits." *Molecular Breeding* 11: 287-293.
- Daigle, Denis M., Geoffrey A. McKay, Paul R. Thompson, and Gerard D. Wright. 1999. "AMinoglycoside antibiotic phosphotransferases are also serine protein kinases." *Chemistry & Biology* 6: 11-18.
- Dressler, R.L. 1993. *Phylogeny and Classification of the Orchid Family*. Cambridge University Press.

- Fay, Michael. 2018. "Orchid conservation: how can we meet the challenges in the twenty-first century?" *Botanical Studies* 1-6.
- FloraCulture International. 2023. *The State of the Orchid Industry in the USA*. May. https://aiph.org/floraculture/news/the-state-of-the-orchid-industry-in-the-usa/.
- Frisch, D.A., L.W. Harris-Haller, N.T. Yokubaitis, T.L Thomas, S.H. Hardin, and T.C. Hall. 1995. "Complete sequence of the binary vector Bin 19." *Plant Molecular Biology* 405-409.
- Gallie, D R, and V Walbot. 1992. "Identification of the motifs within the tobacco mosaic virus 5'leader responsible for enhancing translation." *Nucleic Acids Research* 20 (17): 4631-4638.
- Gritz, L, and J Davies. 1983. "Plasmid-encoded hygromycin B resistance: the sequence of hygromycin B phosphotransferase gene and its expression in Escherichia coli and Saccharomyces cerevisiae." *Gene* 25: 179-188.
- Hasnain, S.E., E.K. Manavathu, and W.C. Leung. 1985. "DNA-mediated transformation of Chlamydomonias reinhardi cells: use of aminoglycoside 3'-phosphotransferase as a selectable marker." *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 5 (12): 3647-3650.
- Holton, Timothy A., and Edwina C. Cornish. 1995. "Genetics and Biochemistry of Anthocyanin Biosynthesis." *The Plant Cell* 7: 1071-1083.
- Hsiao, Yu-Yun, Zhao-Jun Pan, Chia-Chi Hsu, Ya-Ping Yang, Yi-Chin Hsu, Yu-Chen Chuang, Hsing-Hui Shih, Wen-Huei Chen, Wen-Chieh Tsai, and Hong-Hwa Chan. 2011. "Research on Orchid Biology and Biotechnology." *Plant & Cell Physiology* 52 (9): 1467-1486.
- Katsumoto, Yukihisa, Masako Fukuchi-Mizutani, Yuko Fukui, Filippa Brugliera, Timothy Holton, Mirko Karan, Noriko Nakamura, et al. 2007. "Engineering of the Rose Flavonoid Biosynthetic Pathwa Successfully Generated Blue-Hued Flowers Accumulating Delphinidin." *Plant Cell Physiology* 48 (11): 1589-1600.
- Liang, Che-Yu Liang, Krishna Preethi Rengasamy, Li-Min Huang, Chia-Chi Hsu, Mei-Fen Jeng, Wen-Huei Chen, and Hong-Hwa Chen. 2020. "Assessment of violet-blue color formation in Phalaenopsis orchids." *BMC Plant Biology* 20:212.
- Mitsuhara, I, M Ugaki, H Hirochika, M Ohshima, T Murakami, Y Gotoh, Y Katayose, et al. 1996. "Efficient promoter cassettes for enhanced expression of foreign genes in dicotyledonous and monocotyledonous plants." *Plant Cell Physiology* 37 (1): 49-59.
- Morishita, Don. n.d. *What Makes a Weed a Weed?* Weed Science Society of America.
- 2025. Orchidboard. January 03. http://www.orchardboard.com.
- Pietrzak, Macij, Raymond D. Shillito, Thomas Hohn, and Ingo Potrykus. 1986. "Expression in plants of two bacterial antibiotic resistance genes after protoplast transformation with a new plant expression vector." *Nucleic Acids Research* 14: 5857-5868.
- Rao, R.N., N.E. Allen, J.N. Hobbs Jr., W.E. Alborn Jr., H.A. Kirst, and J.W. Paschal. 1983. "Genetic and enzymatic basis of hygromycin B resistance in Escherichia coli." *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 24 (5): 689-695.
- Ray, Haleigh, and Wagner Vendrame. 2015. "Orchid Pollination Biology." IFAS Extension 1-5.
- Runkle, Erik, Yin-Tung Wang, Matthew Blanchard, and Roberto Lopez. 2007. "Growing the Best Phalaenopsis." *Orchids Magazine*, January: 24-29.

Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited 311NR phalaenopsis

- Smulian, George, Reta S. Gibbons, Jeffery A. Demland, Deborah T. Spaulding, and George S. Deepe, Jr. 2007. "Expression of Hygromycin Phosphotransferase Alters Virulence of Histoplasma capsulatum." *Eukaryotic Cell* 6 (11): 2066-2071.
- Tanaka, Yoshikazu, Nobuhiro Sasaki, and Akemi Ohmiya. 2008. "Biosynthesis of plant pigments: anthocyanins, betalains and carotenoids." *The Plant Journal* 54: 733-749.

Teoh, E.S. 2016. Medicinal Orchids of Asia. Springer.

- Tokuhara, K., Mii, M. 1998. "Somaclonal Variations in Flower and Inflorescence Axis in Micropropagated Plants through Flower Stalk Bud Culture of Phalaenopsis and Doritaenopsis." *Plant Biotechnology* 15 (1): 23-28.
- United States Department of Agriculture. 2024. "NASS Highlights." 2023 Florculture Highlights. https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/Highlights/2024/2023-floriculturehighlights.pdf.
- Zhou, Zhuang, Zhen Ying, Zhigang Wu, Yanping Yang, Shuangbin Fu, Wan Xu, Lijuan Yao, et al.
   2021. "Anthocyanin Genes Involved in the Flower Coloration Mechanisms of Cymbidium kanran." *Frontiers in Plant Science* 12:737815.

Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Limited 311NR phalaenopsis

### Appendices

#### **Appendix 1. PCR Methods**

#### PCR Identification of Genes of Interest

DNA was extracted from flower (sepal), leaf and root tissue of the line 311 by DNeasy<sup>®</sup> Plant Mini Kit (QIAGEN). Also, DNA of leaf sample was extracted from non-GE Wedding Promenade PP3387 which is host plant of 311NR as a negative control. PCR was performed by *TaKaRa Ex Taq*<sup>®</sup> HS (TaKaRa) for extracted DNA as template to amplify transgenes (*F3'5'H* gene and *htp* gene) and endogenous gene (Phalaenopsis *CHI* gene).

PCR reaction components:	25 mM TAPS buffer, pH 9.3	
(total 10 μl)	50 mM KCl	
	2 mM MgCl <sub>2</sub>	
	0.1 mM DTT	
	0.2 mM dNTP (each)	
	0.5 μM primer 1	
	0.5 μM primer 2	
	2 ng genomic DNA	
	0.25 units TaKaRa Ex Taq HS <sup>™</sup>	
PCR conditions:	98°C 2 min	
	98°C 10 sec, 55°C 30 sec, 72°C 1 min	30 cycles
	72°C 7 min	
	4°C	

PCR amplicon was separated by agarose gel electrophoresis and stained by ethidium bromide (EtBr). A primer set used for the PCR analysis is described below.

Commelina communis F3'5'H gene CF35H F3 : 5'-AGTGAACCCAACAATACTTCAC-3' CF35H R1 : 5'-CACAGTCTTTTGAAGTGCGATTC-3'

E. coli hpt gene

HPT F2 : 5'-AGGCTCTCGATGAGCTGATG-3' HPT R1 : 5'-GGCATCTACTCTATTCCTTTG-3'

Phalaenopsis chalcone CHI gene

PCHI F3 : 5'-AAGCTCACTGGTTCGGTTGAG-3' PCHI R2 : 5'-AACTTGGCTTTCTCCACATCC-3'

> F3'5'H: flavonoid 3', 5'-hydroxylase HPT: hygromycin B phosphotransferase CHI: chalcone isomerase

#### **RT-PCR Analysis of Gene Expression in Petals and Leaf**

RNA was extracted using RNeasy<sup>\*</sup> Plant Mini Kit (QIAGEN) from petal and leaf samples of the Wedding Promenade PP3387 line, the line 311, and three clone seedlings (311WL, 311NR and 311TL).

cDNA was synthesized from 500 ng of the extracted RNA extracted from each sample by PrimeScript™ 1st strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (TaKaRa) using oligo dT as primer.

Using 1  $\mu$ l of each of the cDNAs as a template, PCR was performed using TaKaRa Ex Taq HSTM (TaKaRa) under the following conditions to amplify the transgene (*CcF3'5'H* gene and *hpt* gene) and the endogenous gene (Phalaenopsis *CHI* gene).

PCR reaction: 98°C 2 min 98°C 10 sec, 55°C 30 sec, 72°C 1 min, 25 cycles 72°C 7 min 4°C

PCR amplicon was separated by agarose gel electrophoresis and stained by ethidium bromide (EtBr). A primer set used for the PCR analysis is described below.

*CcF3'5'H* gene CF35H F3 : 5'-AGTGAACCCAACAATACTTCAC-3' CF35H R1 : 5'-CACAGTCTTTTGAAGTGCGATTC-3'

*hpt* gene HPT F2 : 5'-AGGCTCTCGATGAGCTGATG-3' HPT R1 : 5'-GGCATCTACTCTATTCCTTTG-3'

Phalaenopsis CHI gene PCHI F3 : 5'-AAGCTCACTGGTTCGGTTGAG-3' PCHI R2 : 5'-AACTTGGCTTTCTCCACATCC-3'

> F3'5'H: flavonoid 3', 5'-hydroxylase HPT: hygromycin B phosphotransferase CHI: chalcone isomerase

# Materials and Methods for PCR Analysis to Confirm Absence of Agrobacterium Backbone DNA

DNA was extracted from flower (sepal), leaf and root of the line 311 by DNeasy<sup>®</sup> Plant Mini Kit (QIAGEN). PCR was performed by *TaKaRa Ex Taq*<sup>®</sup> HS (TaKaRa) for extracted DNA as template to amplify aminoglycoside phosphotransferase III (*aphA-3*) gene which is non T-DNA region of pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H. Plasmid DNA of pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H was also used for the PCR amplification as control material.

PCR reaction components (total 10 μl)	5: 25 mM TAPS buffer, pH 9.3 50 mM KCl 2 mM MgCl <sub>2</sub> 0.1 mM DTT 0.2 mM dNTP (each) 0.5 $\mu$ M APH F1 0.5 $\mu$ M APH R1 50 ng genomic DNA 0.25 upits TaKaPa Ex Tag <sup>®</sup> HS	
PCR conditions:	98°C 2 min 98°C 10 sec, 55°C 30 sec, 72°C 1 min 72°C 7 min 4°C	30 cycles

PCR amplicon was separated by agarose gel electrophoresis and stained by ethidium bromide (EtBr). A primer set used for the PCR analysis is described below.

APH F1 : 5'-TGCAAGGAACAGTGAATTGG-3' APH R1 : 5'-AGTTTTCGCAATCCACATCG-3'

#### Appendix 2. Materials and Methods for Southern Blot Analysis

#### **Southern Blots for Copy Number**

#### CcF3'5'H and hpt Gene Southern Blot Methods

DNA was extracted from the leaf sample of the line 311 by DNeasy<sup>®</sup> Plant Mini Kit (QIAGEN). 15 µg of extracted DNA was separated by electrophoresis with 1% agarose gel after digestion of DNA by *Eco*RI or *Nde*I. DNA in the agarose gel was transferred to the membrane after denaturing and neutralization. After pre-hybridization in DIG Easy Hyb (Roche), the DIG labeled probe (3' terminal of *Nde*I in *hpt* gene or *CcF3'5'H* gene; Figure 7) which was generated by PCR DIG probe synthesis kit (Roche) was added, and the membrane was incubated for 16 hours at 42°C. The membrane was washed twice for 5 minutes at room temperature and twice for 15 minutes at 60°C in 2xSSC solution with 0.1% SDS. Fluorescence signal was detected according to the operating procedures of the DIG Nucleic Acid Detection Kit (Roche).

#### **Sequence of Analysis**

First, hybridization, washing, and detection were performed using an the *hpt* gene-specific probe, followed by detachment of the probe from the membrane and subsequent Southern hybridization using an *CcF3'5'H* gene-specific probe.

#### **Southern Blots for Generational Stability**

DNA was extracted using DNeasy<sup>•</sup> Plant Mini Kit (QIAGEN) from leaf samples of Wedding Promenade PP3387, the line 311, 311WL that has the same flower mutation as line 311, 311NR which has the reverse mutation and a normal flower shape and 311TL which has petals that are transformed into the flower lip.

20 µg of extracted each DNA sample was separated by electrophoresis with 1% agarose gel after digestion of DNA by *Eco*RI. DNA in the agarose gel was transferred to the membrane after denaturing and neutralization. Two blotted membranes were prepared for each sample. After pre-hybridization in DIG Easy Hyb (Roche), the DIG labeled probe (*CcF3'5'H* gene or 5' terminal of *Eco*RI site in *hpt* gene; Figure 7) which was generated by PCR DIG probe synthesis kit (Roche) was added, and the membrane was incubated for 16 hours at 42°C. Subsequent process followed in same manner as study A.

#### Southern Blots for Absence of Agrobacterium Backbone

DNA was extracted from the leaf sample of line 311 by DNeasy<sup>\*</sup> Plant Maxi Kit (QIAGEN). 20 µg of extracted DNA was separated by electrophoresis with 1% agarose gel after digestion of DNA by *Eco*RI. 0.1 ng of DNA from pBIH-35S-CcF3'5'H was digested by *Eco*RI and separated by electrophoresis as a control material.

DNA in the agarose gel was transferred to the membrane after depurination, denaturing and neutralization. Six membranes were prepared in the same manner.

After pre-hybridization in DIG Easy Hyb (Roche), the DIG labeled probe (Probe  $1 \sim 6$  (Frisch, et al. 1995) which was generated by PCR DIG probe synthesis kit (Roche) was added, and the membrane was incubated for 16 hours at 42°C. The membrane was washed twice for 5 minutes at room temperature and twice for 15 minutes at 60°C in 2xSSC solution with 0.1% SDS. Fluorescence signal was detected according to the operating procedures of the DIG Nucleic Acid Detection Kit (Roche).

# Appendix 3. Materials and Methods for Determination of Hygromycin Resistance in PLBs

A study was conducted to determine hygromycin resistance in 311NR and control PLBs at the Central Research institute of Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Ltd. (Kusatsu, Shiga, Japan) in January to March 2016.

Ten PLBs from 311NR phalaenopsis and the host plant (PP3387), respectively, were cultivated on Hyponex agar media with 10 mg/l of hygromycin, 0.1 mg/l of naphthalen acetic acid and 1 mg/l of benzyl adenine at 25°C under dark condition. Cultivation media was replaced every week, and PLBs were cultivated for 10 weeks.

# Appendix 4. Materials and Methods for Determination of Agrobacterium Presence Using Agar Plates

A study was conducted at Central research institute of Ishihara Sangyo Kaisha, Ltd. (Kusatsu, Shiga, Japan) in February 2016.

Leaf samples collected from three 311NR seedlings in flask (0.36~0.56 g) was ground with LB media (0.2 ml/0.1 g leaf sample) in a mortar. After grinding, each sample was filtered using a nylon membrane filter with pore size of 100 micrometer.

Next, 0.4 ml of filtered sample liquid was spread on two LB agar media plates.

Presence or absence of colonies were confirmed at 3 days after incubation at 28°C.

LB medium contained yeast extract (5 g/l), tryptone (10 g/l) and sodium chloride (10 g/l). 13 g/l of agar was added to the agar medium.

	10	20	30	40	50	60
CCGGGC	CTGGTTG	ICCCTCGCCGCT	GGGCTGGCGGC	CGTCTATGG	CCTGCAAACO	CGCCAG
$\operatorname{Ori} V$						
	70	80	90	100	110	120
AAACGC	CGTCGA	AGCCGTGTGCG	AGACACCGCGG	GCCGCCGGCGT	TGTGGATACC	TCGCGG
	130	140	150	160	170	180
AAAACT	TGGCCC	TCACTGACAGA	TGAGGGGCGGA	CGTTGACACI	TGAGGGGCCG	ACTCAC
	190	200	210	220	230	240
CCGGCG	GCGGCGT		GGGCAGGCTCC	GATTTCGGCC	GCGACGTGGA	GCTGGC
<u></u>						
	250	260	270	280	290	300
CAGCCT			GCCTGATTTL			
0/10001	000/00					
	310	320	330	340	350	360
CAAGC(				040		
	Tuuuur					
	270	200	200	400	410	120
CACCCC		000 00110404011				420 147004
UAUUUU		UCTICACACIT	UAUUUUUUUAUAU			AUUTAT
	420	440	450	460	470	400
TOADAT	430					400
TGAGAT	TIGAGO	IGGC I G I GCACA	GGCAGAAAAT	JAGGATTIG	JAAGGGIIIGU	
	400	500	<b>F10</b>	500	500	F 40
TTTTO	490	500		520	530 • • • • • • • • • •	540
	IGUUAUU	GUTAACCIGIC	TITTAACCIG		AIAIIIAIAA	ACCITG
	550	500	530	500	500	000
	550	560	570	580	590	600
<u>    </u>	ACCAG	IGC I GCGCCC I G	IGCGCGIGACO	GCGCACGCC	JAAGGGGGGG I G	<u>iCCCCCCC</u>
	610	620	630	640	650	660
CTTCTC	GAACCO	TCCCGGCCCGC	TAACGCGGGGC	CTCCCATCCC	CCCAGGGGCT	iCGCCCC
	670	680	690	700	710	720
TCGGCC	GCGAAC	GGCCTCACCCC	AAAAATGGCAG	GCGCTGGCAG	FCCTTGCCATT	GCCGGG
	730	740	750	760	770	780
ATCGGG	GCAGTA	ACGGGATGGGC	GATCAGCCCGA	AGCGCGACGC	CCGGAAGCATT	GACGTG

790	800	810	820	830	840
CCGCAGGTGCT	GGCATCGACAT	<b>FCAGCGACCA</b>	GGTGCCGGGCA	GTGAGGGCGG	GCGGCCTG
850	860	870	880	890	900
GGTGGCGGCCT	GCCCTTCACTT	CGGCCGTCGG	GGCATTCACGG	ACTTCATGGC	CGGGGGCCG
910	920	930	940	950	960
GCAATTTTTAC	CTTGGGCATTC <sup>-</sup>	TTGGCATAGT	GGTCGCGGGTG	ICCGTGCTCG1	GTTCGGG
970	980	990	1000	1010	1020
GGTG <u>CGATAAA</u>	CCCAGCGAACC	ATTTGAGGTG/	ATAGGTAAGAT	TATACCGAG	<u>ATATGAAA</u>
aphA-3	5'non-codir	וg			
1030	1040	1050	1060	1070	1080
ACGAGAATTGG	ACCTTTACAGA	ATTACTCTAT	GAAGCGCCATA	TTTAAAAAGO	CTACCAAG
1000	1 1 0 0				
1090	1100	1110	1120	1130	1140
ACGAAGAGGA I	GAAGAGGA I GAG	<u>GGAGGCAGA I</u>	IGCCIIGAAIA	IAIIGACAAI	ACIGAIA
	1 1 0 0	4.70			1000
1150	1160	11/0	1180	1190	1200
AGATAATATAT	CITTATATAG	AAGATATCGC	GIAIGIAAGG	IATTTCAGGGG	igcaaggc
1010	1000	1000	1040	1050	1000
1210					
ATAGGCAGCGC	GUITAIGAATA				GUATGUA
1070	1200	1000	1200	1010	1000
				ΙΟΙΟ Τοτατοάται	
<u>CTAATGETTGA</u>	AAUUUAUUAUA				
					151
1330	1340	1350	1360	1370	1380
	Τ340 Τταττραταρτί	TTTTATGTT			
ATUAOTOOAAO					
1300	1400	1410	1420	1430	1440
	ΤΤΤΤGΔGΔΔCG			GTGCCAGGTG	GCTGCCTC
<u>naoroonooun</u>			5001000/1000		
1450	1460	1470	1480	1490	1500
AGATTCAGGTT	ATGCCGCTCAA	TCGCTGCGT	ATATCGCTTGC	TGATTACGTO	CAGCTTT
1510	1520	1530	1540	1550	1560
CCCTTCAGGCG	GGATTCATACA	GCGGCCAGCC	ATCCGTCATCO	ATATCACCAC	GTCAAAG

COTON	1570	1580	1590	1600	1610	1620
GUIGA		ATAAUAUUUU			ICAUGUAATA	
	1630	1640	1650	1660	1670	1680
GCAAC	AACCGTCTTC	CGGAGACTGT	CATACGCGTA	AAACAGCCAG		ATTTA
<u>uo/u/to/</u>	1000010110		onnououn	1		<u></u>
	1690	1700	1710	1720	1730	1740
GCCCC	GACATAGCCC	CACTGTTCGT	CCATTTCCGC	GCAGACGATG	ACGTCACTGC	CCGGC
	1750	1760	1770	1780	1790	1800
TGTAT	GCGCGAGGTT	ACCGACTGCG	GCCTGAGTTT	TTTAAGTGAC	GTAAAATCGT	GTTGA
	1810	1820	1830	1840	1850	1860
GGCCA	ACGCCCATAA	TGCGGGCTGT	TGCCCGGCAT	CCAACGCCAT	TCATGGCCAT	<u>ATCAA</u>
	1870	1880	1890	1900	1910	1920
TGATT	TTCTGGTGCG	TACCGGGTTG	AGAAGCGGTG	TAAGTGAACT	GCAGTTGCCA	IGITT
	4000	10.10	4050	1000	4070	1000
T. 000	1930	1940	1950			1980
TACGG	CAGIGAGAGC	AGAGATAGCG	CIGAIGICCG	GCGGIGCIII	IGCCGIIACG	CACCA
	1000	2000	0010	0000	0000	2040
00000						
		AACAUUAUUU	AUAUUTUATA	UAUAUAUAAU		AUUTU
	2050	2060	2070	2080	2000	2100
٨٨٨٨٨			GTAAGTTGGC		ΔΤΔΔΤΤΩΤ	GGTTTCA
					$\frac{\Lambda 1 \Lambda 1 1 M 1}{2 m h \Delta - 3 c}$	oding
					apin 1 5 C	ounig
	2110	2120	2130	2140	2150	2160
AAATC	GGCTCCGTCG	ATACTATGTT	ATACGCCAAC	TTTGAAAACA	ACTTTGAAAAA	AGCTG
	2170	2180	2190	2200	2210	2220
TTTTC	TGGTATTTAA	GGTTTTAGAA	TGCAAGGAAC	AGTGAATTGG	AGTTCGTCTT	GTTAT
	2230	2240	2250	2260	2270	2280
AATTA	<u>GCTTCTTGGG</u>	<u>GTATCTTTAA</u>	<u>ATACTGTAGA</u>	AAAGAGGAAG	<u>GAAATAATA</u> A	ATGGC
	2290	2300	2310	2320	2330	2340
TAAAA	TGAGAATATC	ACCGGAATTG	AAAAAACTGA	TCGAAAAATA	CCGCTGCGTA	AAAGA

	2350	2360	2370	2380	2390	2400
TACGGA	AGGAATGTC	<b>ICCTGCTAAG</b>	GTATATAAGC <sup>®</sup>	TGGTGGGAGA	AAATGAAAAC	<u>ATATC</u>
	2410	2420	2430	2440	2450	2460
TTTAAA	AATGACGGA	CAGCCGGTAT	AAGGGACCA	CCTATGATGT	GGAACGGGAA	AAGGA
						-
	2470	2480	2490	2500	2510	2520
CATGAT	GCTATGGCT	GAAGGAAAG			GCACTTTGAA	
onnann						<u>ouuon</u>
	2530	2540	2550	2560	2570	2580
TG∆TGG		ZUHU ICTGCTCATG/		ATGGCGTCCT.		GAGTA
					TTUOTUUUAA	
	2500	2600	2610	2620	2630	2640
TGAAGA						2040 2040
TUAAUA		JUUTUAAAAU			GIGGAIGAGG	51011
	0650	0660	0670	2600	2600	0700
τολοτο					2090	2700
TUAUTU	UATUGAUATA		JUUTATAUGA	ATAGETTAGA		JUUUA
	0710	0700	0700	0740	0750	0700
	2/10	2/20	2/30	2/40	2750	2/60
ATTGGA		iAATAACGAT	CIGGCCGAIG	IGGATIGCGA	AAACIGGGAA	<u>JAAGA</u>
	2770	2780	2790	2800	2810	2820
CACTCC	ATTTAAAGA	CCGCGCGAG	CTGTATGATT	ITTTAAAGAC	GGAAAAGCCC	GAAGA
	2830	2840	2850	2860	2870	2880
GGAACT	TGTCTTTTC	CACGGCGAC	CTGGGAGACA	GCAACATCTT	TGTGAAAGAT	GGCAA
	2890	2900	2910	2920	2930	2940
AGTAAG	TGGCTTTAT	GATCTTGGG/	AGAAGCGGCA	GGGCGGACAA	GTGGTATGAC	ATTGC
	2950	2960	2970	2980	2990	3000
CTTCTG	CGTCCGGTC	GATCAGGGAG	GATATCGGGG	AAGAACAGTA	TGTCGAGCTA	TTTTT
						<u> </u>
	3010	3020	3030	3040	3050	3060
TGACTT	ACTGGGGAT	CAAGCCTGAT	[GGGAGAAAA	TAAAATATTA	TATTTTACTG	GATGA
	3070	3080	3090	3100	3110	3120
ΔΤΤΩΤΤ	TTAGTACCT	10000 10100 101000				
ATTUT		tref A				JUURUI
		UTIA				

TCTTC	3130 CGCATCAAGT	3140 GTTTTGGCTC	3150 TCAGGCCGAG	3160 GCCCACGGCA	3170 AGTATTTGGG	3180 CAAGG
00700	3190	3200	3210	3220	3230	3240
<u>GG1CG</u>	CIGUIAIICG	IGCAGGGGCAA	GATTCGGAAT	AUGAAGTAGA	AGAAGGACGG	ICCAGA
	3250	3260	3270	3280	3290	3300
CGGTC	TACGGGACCG	ACTTCATTGC	CGATAAGGTG	GATTATCTGG	ACACCAAGGC	ACCAG
	3310	3320	3330	3340	3350	3360
GCGGG	TCAAATCAGG	AATAAGGGCA	CATTGCCCCG	GCGTGAGTCG	GGGCAATCCC	GCAAG
	0070					
CVCCC.	3370 TGAATGAATC	3380 66406TTT64	3390 ССССАЛСССА		3410 мастратора	3420
<u>uAuuu</u>		UUAUUTTTUA	UUUAAUUUA		ANDIUATUUA	
	3430	3440	3450	3460	3470	3480
GGTTT	TCCGCCGAGG	ATGCCGAAAC	CATCGCAAGC	CGCACCGTCA	TGCGTGCGCC	CCGCG
	3490	3500	3510	3520	3530	3540
AAACC	TTCCAGTCCG	TCGGCTCGAT	GGTCCAGCAA	GCTACGGCCA	AGATCGAGCG	CGACA
GCGTG		3560 ССССТВСССТ	3570 6000606004	3580	3590 TGGAGCGTTC	3600 GCGTC
		0000100001			Tuunuoutto	
	3610	3620	3630	3640	3650	3660
GTCTC	GAACAGGAGG	CGGCAGGTTT	GGCGAAGTCG	ATGACCATCG	ACACGCGAGG	AACTA
	3670	3680	3690	3700	3710	3720
TGACG	ACCAAGAAGC	GAAAAACCGC	CGGCGAGGAC	CTGGCAAAAC	AGGTCAGCGA	GGCCA
		3/40 TGAAACACAC	3/50 6446046046	3/60	3//0 Techectite	3/80 08/ 3
AUGAU		TUAAAUAUAU	UAAUUAUUAU	ATUAAUUAAA		
	3790	3800	3810	3820	3830	3840
TCGAT	ATTGCGCCGT	GGCCGGACAC	GATGCGAGCG	ATGCCAAACG	ACACGGCCCG	CTCTG
	3850	3860	3870	3880	3890	3900
<u>CCCT</u> G	TTCACCACGC	<u>GCAACAAG</u> AA	AATCCCGCGCGC	GAGGCGCTGC	AAAACAAGGT	CATTT
TCCAC	3910 GTCAACAAGG		3930 Слестлелее	3940	3950 Tecesecce	3960 CGATC
TUCAU		RUUTUAAUAT		uuuuuuuuuu	IUUUUUUUUUA	

	3970	3980	3990	4000	4010	4020
AUGAA		AGCAGGIGII	GUAGIAGUG			UCCUA
TOACO	4030	4040	4050		4070	4080
<u>10400</u>	TICAGUITUT	ACUAUCTIT				
40400	4090	4100	4110	4120	4130	4140
AUAUU	AAGGGGGAGG	AATGOOTGIC			TUUUUTTUAU	
	4150	4160	4170	4180	4190	4200
ACCGC	GIIGGGCACC	IGGAAICGGI	GICGCIGCIG	icaccgcttcc	GCGICCIGGA	CCGIG
	4210	4220	4230	4240	4250	4260
<u>GCAAG</u>	AAAACGTCCC	GTTGCCAGGT	CCTGATCGAC	GAGGAAATCG	TCGTGCTGTT	TGCTG
	4270	4280	4290	4300	4310	4320
GCGAC	CACTACACGA	AATTCATAT	GGAGAAGTAC	CGCAAGCTGT	CGCCGACGGC	CCGAC
	4330	4340	4350	4360	4370	4380
<u>GGATG</u>	TTCGACTATT	TCAGCTCGCA	CCGGGAGCCG	TACCCGCTCA	AGCTGGAAAC	CTTCC
	4390	4400	4410	4420	4430	4440
GCCTC	ATGTGCGGAT	CGGATTCCAC	CCGCGTGAAG	AAGTGGCGCG	AGCAGGTCGG	ICGAAG
	4450	4400	4470		4400	4500
00700	4450	4460	44/0	4480	4490	4500
CCTGC	GAAGAGIIGU	GAGGCAGCGC	ICCIGGIGGAA	CACGCCTGGG	ICAAIGAIGA	CCTGG
	4510	4520	4530	4540	4550	4560
TGCAT	TGCAAACGCT	AGGGCCTTGT	GGGGTCAGTT	CCGGCTGGGG	GTTCAGCAGC	CAGCG
	4570	4580	4590	4600	4610	4620
CTTTA	CTGGCATTTC	AGGAACAAGC	GGGCACTGCT	CGACGCACTT	GCTTCGCTCA	GTATC
	4000	1010	4050	1000	4070	4000
00700	4630	4640	4650	4660	46/0	4680
GUTUG	GGACGCACGG	CGCGCTCTAC	GAACIGCCGA	TAAACAGAGG	AIIAAAAIIG	iagaa i
	4690	4700	4710	4720	4730	4740
TGTGA	TTAAGGCTCA	GATTCGACGO	CTTGGAGCGG	CCGACGTGCA	GGATTTCCGC	GAGAT
	4750	4760	4770	4780	4790	4800
CCGAT	TGTCGGCCCT	GAAGAAAGCT	CCAGAGATGT	TCGGGTCCGT	TTACGAGCAC	GAGGA

559	0	5600	5610	5620	5630	5640
TTCCTTACT	GGGCTT	TCTCAG	CCCCAGATCTG	GGGAAC <u>CCTGT</u>	GGTTGGCATG	<u>CACATAC</u>
			/	right	border	
			Bg/II	C		
			-0			
565	0	5660	5670	5680	5690	5700
		TAAACC'	TTTCACGCCC		CONTINTICT	
	AUUUA					
F74	<u>^</u>	5700	5700	5740	5750	5700
5/1	0	5720	5/30	5/40	5/50	5/60
GCICIIIIC	ICIIAG	GIIIAC	CCGCCAAIAIA	ICCIGICAAAC	ACIGAIAGII	IAAACIG
577	0	5780	5790	5800	5810	5820
AAGGCGGGA	AACGAC	AATCTC	GGGCCCCCCCT	CGACCCGCGTC	CTAGAGATCC	GTCAACA
					P	35S
583	0	5840	5850	5860	5870	5880
TGGTGGAGC		0040 010106			TACAGTOTOA	
	RUURUR					
500	0	F000	5010	5000	5000	F0.40
589	0	5900	5910	5920	5930	5940
AAAGGGCIA	IIGAGA		AACAAAGGG   A/	A I A I CGGGAAA	CCICCICGGA	IICCAII
595	0	5960	5970	5980	5990	6000
GCCCAGCTA	TCTGTC	ACTTCA	TCAAAAGGACA	GTAGAAAAGGA	AGGTGGCACC	TACAAAT
601	0	6020	6030	6040	6050	6060
GCCATCATT	° GCG∆T∆					
	dounn			5//////////////////////////////////////		<u>uu 1000/1</u>
607	0	6000	6000	6100	6110	6100
007	0	0080	0090	0100	0110	0120
AAGATGGAC	CCCCAC	CCACGA	GGAGCATCGTG	JAAAAAGAAGA	CGIICCAACC	ACGICII
613	0	6140	6150	6160	6170	6180
CAAAGCAAG	TGGATT	GATGTG	ATATCTCCACT	GACGTAAGGGA	TGACGCACAA	TCCCACT
619	0	6200	6210	6220	6230	6240
ATCCTTCGC	AAGACC	CTTCCT	CTATATAAGGA	AGTTCATTTCA	TTTGGAGAGG	ACGACCC
						<u></u> u, (000
60E	0	6260	6070	6200	6200	6200
UZU	•				ULUU	
MetLy	sLysPr	oGTuLe	ulhrAlalhrSe	erValGluLys	PheLeuIleG	IuLysPh
hpt						

6 CGACAGO	310 CATCTCCGAC	6320 CTGATGCAG	6330 CTCTCGGAGG	6340 GCGAAGAATC	6350 TCGTGCTTTC	6360 <u>AGCTT</u>
eAspSer	ValSerAsp	bLeuMetGInl	_euSerGluG	lyGluGluSe	rArgAlaPhe	SerPh
ССАТСТА		6380	6390	6400	6410	6420
eAspVal	GlvGlvAra	glvTvrVall	_euArgValA	snSerCvsAl	aAspG1vPhe	TvrLv
		,,.,				
6	6430	6440	6450	6460	6470	6480
AGATCGT	TATGTTTA	<u>ICGGCACTTT(</u>	<u>GCATCGGCCG</u>	CGCTCCCGAT	TCCGGAAGTG	CTTGA
sAspArg	glyrVallyr	rArgHisPhe/	AlaSerAlaA	laLeuProII	eProGluVal	LeuAs
6	6490	6500	6510	6520	6530	6540
CATTGGG	GAATTCAG	CGAGAGCCTG/	ACCTATTGCA	TCTCCCGCCG	TGCACAGGGT	GTCAC
pIleGly	GluPheSer	GluSerLeu	ThrTyrCysI	leSerArgAr	gAlaGlnGly	ValTh
		0500	0530	0500	0500	0000
t ATTOON	)550 	6560	65/0	6580	6590	6600
	GACCIGCC					
rLeuGIr	AspLeuPro	GluihrGlui	_euProAlava	alLeuGInPr	ovalAlaGiu	Alame
6	610	6620	6630	6640	6650	6660
GGATGCO	ATCGCTGC	GCCGATCTT	AGCCAGACGA	GCGGGTTCGG	CCCATTCGGA	<u>CCGCA</u>
tAspAla	aIleAlaAla	aAlaAspLeu	SerGInThrS	erGlyPheGl	yProPheGly	ProGl
6	670	6680	6690	6700	6710	6720
AGGAATC	CGGTCAATA	CACTACATGG	CGTGATTTCA	TATGCGCGAT	TGCTGATCCC	CATGT
nGlyIle	GlyGlnTyr	ThrThrTrp/	ArgAspPheI	leCysAlaIl	eAlaAspPro	HisVa
	700	0740	0750	0700	0770	0700
0747040	)/30	6/40 6764 TOO AO	6/50	6/60 0100010001	6//U	6/80
GIAICAC	TGGCAAAC				CGCGCAGGCT	
llyrHıs	sirpGinihr	rValMetAsp/	AspihrValS	erAlaSerVa	IAlaGInAla	LeuAs
6	5790	6800	6810	6820	6830	6840
TGAGCTO	GATGCTTTG	GCCGAGGAC	TGCCCCGAAG <sup>®</sup>	TCCGGCACCT	CGTGCACGCG	GATTT
pGluLeu	ıMetLeuTrp	oAlaGluAsp(	CysProGluVa	alArgHisLe	uValHisAla	AspPh
c	050	6060	6070	6000	6000	6000
0000000						0900
euryser	ASHASHVA	Leuinraspi	ASTIGIYArgi	iemrAlava	illeaspirp	serul

GGCGA	6910 FGTTCGGGGA	6920 TTCCCAATAC	6930 GAGGTCGCCA	6940 ACATCTTCTT	6950 CTGGAGGCCG	6960 TGGTT
uAlaMe	etPheGlyAs	oSerGInTyr	GluValAlaA	snIlePhePh	eTrpArgPro	TrpLe
GGCTT	6970 STATGGAGCA		6990 TACTTCGAGC	7000 GGAGGCATCC	7010 GGAGCTTGCA	7020 GGATC
uAlaCy	ysMetGluGli	nGInThrArg <sup>®</sup>	TyrPheGluA	rgArgHisPro	oGluLeuAla	GlySe
60060						7080
rProA	rgLeuArgAla	aTyrMetLeu	ArgIleGlyL	euAspGInLe	uTyrGlnSer	LeuVa
	7090	7100	7110	7120	7130	7140
TGACG	GCAATTTCGA	TGATGCAGCT	TGGGCGCAGG	GTCGATGCGA	CGCAATCGTC	<u>CGATC</u>
lAspG	l yAsnPheAsı	pAspAlaAla	TrpAlaGInG	lyArgCysAs	pAlaIleVal	ArgSe
	7150	7160	7170	7180	7190	7200
CGGAG	CCGGGACTGT	CGGGCGTACA	CAAATCGCCC	GCAGAAGCGC	<u>GGCCGTCTGG</u>	<u>ACCGA</u>
rGlyA	laGlyThrVa	lGlyArgThr	GInIleAlaA	rgArgSerAla	aAlaValTrp	ThrAs
	7210	7220	7230	7240	7250	7260
TGGCT	GTGTAGAAGT	ACTCGCCGAT	AGTGGAAACC	GACGCCCCAG	CACTCGTCCG	AGGGC
pGlyCy	ysValGluVa	LeuA aAsp	SerGlyAsnA	rgArgProSe	rThrArgPro	ArgAl
	7270	7280	7290	7300	7310	7320
AAAGG/	<u>AATAG</u> AGTAG/	ATGCCGACCG	GGATC <u>GATCC</u>	AACACTTACG	TTTGCAACGT	<u>CCAAG</u>
aLysG	U***		TNOS	3		
	7330	7340	7350	7360	7370	7380
<u>AGCAA/</u>	ATAGACCACG/	ACGCCGGAA	GGTTGCCGCA	<u>GCGTGTGGAT</u>	<u>TGCGTCTCAA</u>	<u>ttctc</u>
	7390	7400	7410	7420	7430	7440
TCTTG	CAGGAATGCA	ATGATGAATA	TGATACTGAC	TATGAAACTT	TGAGGGAATA	CTGCC
	7450	7460	7470	7480	7490	7500
TAGCA	CCGTCACCTC	ATAACGTGCA	TCATGCATGC	CCTGACAACA	TGGAACATCG	<u>CTATT</u>
	/510	/520	/530	/540	7550	7560
TTTCT	<u>GAAGAATTAT(</u>	GCTCGTTGGA	GGATGTCGCG	<u>GCAATTGCAG</u>	<u>CTATTGCCAA</u>	<u>AATCG</u>
	7570	7580	7590	7600	7610	7620
--------------	---------------------	---	---------------	----------------------	--------------------	-----------------
AAATA	CCCCTCACGC	ATGCATTCAT	CAATATTATT	CATGCGGGGA	AAGGCAAGAT	TAATC
	7630	7640	7650	7660	7670	7680
CAACT	GGCAAATCAT	CCAGCGTGAT	TGGTAACTTC	AGTTCCAGCG	ACTTGATTCG	<u>TTTTG</u>
	7000	7700	7740	7700	7700	7740
οτοοτ	/690					//40
	AUUUAUUIII	<u>I GAATAAGGA</u>	GUAGATUUTU	<u>IUAU I AAAUAA</u>		GAAGO
	7750	7760	7770	7780	7790	7800
AGATC	GTTCAAACAT	TTGGCAATAA	AGTTTCTTAA	GATTGAATCC	TGTTGCCGGT	CTTGC
	7810	7820	7830	7840	7850	7860
GATGA	TTATCATATA	ATTTCTGTTG	AATTACGTTA	AGCATGTAAT	AATTAACATG	TAATG
	7870	7880	7890	7900	7910	7920
CAIGA	CGIIAIIIAI	GAGAIGGGII	IIIAIGAIIA	GAGICCCGCA	AIIAIACAII	<u>  AA   A</u>
	7020	7040	7050	7060	7070	7000
CCCCN	7930 TAGAAAAAAAA	/940 AATATAGCGC		7900 ATAAATTATO	1910 60606066TG	
UUUUA	IAUAAAAUAA	AATATAUUUU	UUAAAUTAUU			IUATO
	7990	8000	8010	8020	8030	8040
TATGT	TACTAGATCG	ATCAAACTTC	GGTACTGTGT	AATGACGATG	AGCAATCGAG	AGGCT
	8050	8060	8070	8080	8090	8100
GACTA	ACAAAAGGTA	TGCCCAAAAA	CAACCTCTCC	CAAACTGTTTC	GAATTGGAAG	TTTCT
	0440		0.1.0.0	0.1.40	0450	
00704	8110 T000040400	8120	8130	8140	8150	8160
GUTCA	IGCCGACAGG	CATAACITAG		IGCTATICCCA	CTAATICGIC	
	8170	8180	8190	8200	8210	8220
GGTTT	GCGCCAAGAT	AAATCAGTGC	ATCTCCTTAC	AAGTTCCTCT	GTCTTGTGAA	ATGAA
<u>uurrr</u>		///////////////////////////////////////	/// 010011//0	<i></i>		
	8230	8240	8250	8260	8270	8280
CTGCT	GACTGCCCCC	CAAGAAAGCC	TCCTCATCTC	CCAGTTGGCG	GCGGCTGATA	CACCA
	8290	8300	8310	8320	8330	8340
TCGAA	AACCCACGTC	CGAACACTTG	ATACATGTGC	CTGAGAAATA	GGCCTACGTC	CAAGA
	8320	8360	<u>8370</u>	8380	8300	8100
00440	TOOTTTOTAT	GCTCGTCGGA		0000 01670100		TGTCT

	8410	8420	8430	8440	8450	8460	
TGCGT	TGATGAAGC	TGGGGATCTC	GAGGTCGACG	GTATCGATAA	GCTTGATCCCC	GGATT	
<u></u>							
	8470	8480	8490	8500	8510	8520	
TCCTG	CAGGCTCTA	GAGGATCCCC	CCTCAGAAGA	CCAGAGGGCT	ATTGAGACTTI	TCAAC	
			P35S				
			1000				
	8530	8540	8550	8560	8570	8580	
AAAGG	GTAATATCG	GGAAACCTCC	TCGGATTCCA	TTGCCCAGCT	ATCTGTCACTI	CATCG	
<u>/////////////////////////////////////</u>			1000/11/00/1	11000/1001/		onrou	
	8590	8600	8610	8620	8630	8640	
AAAGG	ACAGTAGAA	AAGGAAGGTG	GCTCCTACAA	ATGCCATCAT	TGCGATAAAGO	AAAGG	
<u>/////dd</u>	///////////////////////////////////////			1100/110/11		<u>n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n </u>	
	8650	8660	8670	8680	8690	8700	
CTATC	GTTCAAGAT	GCCTCTACCG	ACAGTGGTCC			GAGGA	
<u>en/110</u>			<u>nonaraaroo</u>			<u>anaan</u>	
	8710	8720	8730	8740	8750	8760	
ACATC	GTGGAAAAA	GAAGACGTTC	CAACCACGTC	TTCAAAGCAA	GTGGATTGAT	TGATA	
<u>/////////////////////////////////////</u>			0/1/10/10/10/10	110/00/010		<u> </u>	
	8770	8780	8790	8800	8810	8820	
тстсс	ACTGACGTA	AGGGATGACG	CACAATCCCA	CTATCCTTCG		CTCTA	
10100	//01/0//00///						
	8830	8840	8850	8860	8870	8880	
τάτα	GGAAGTTCA	TTTCATTTGG	AGAGGACAGG	CTTCTTGAGA	TCCTTCAACAA	TTACC	
<u></u>					TM	V-omega	
					1111	, onlege	
	8890	8900	8910	8920	8930	8940	
AACAA	CAACAAACA	ACAAACAACA	TTACAATTAC	TATTTACAAT	TACAGTCGGGA	TTTAT	
						Me	

CcF3'5'H

8950 8960 8970 8980 8990 9000 <u>GGTACCCCTTACGTACCTTGCATGTCTCCTCCTCCCCCCTCCACCACCTCCTCCT</u> tValProLeuThrTyrLeuAlaCysLeuLeuProPheLeuLeuHisHisLeuLeuLe

9010 9020 9030 9040 9050 9060 <u>CCTCCATCGCCGACGTCGACTCCCCCCGGTCCCCTCGGCTTCCCCATCCTAGGCTCCCT</u> uLeuHisArgArgArgArgLeuProProGlyProLeuGlyPheProIleLeuGlySerLe

	9070	9080	9090	9100	9110	9120
ССССТО	CTTTGGGCAC	CACCCCTCAC	ATCTCTCTAG	CTCATCTCTC	CACCCTCTAT	GGCCC
uProSe	erLeuGlyTh	rThrProHis	lleSerLeuA	laHisLeuSe	rThrLeuTyr	GlyPr
	-					•
	9130	9140	9150	9160	9170	9180
CATTA	<b>FGCACCTTCG</b>	ACTAGGCCAA	GCCGATGTCG	TCGTCGCCTC	CACCCCCTCG	GCCGC
olleMe	etHisLeuArg	gLeuGlyGln/	AlaAspValV	alValAlaSe	rThrProSer	AlaAl
	9190	9200	9210	9220	9230	9240
CCGTC	<b>ICTTCCTCAA</b>	AGACCTCGAA	ACTTCTTC	GGGACCGTCC	CACCGATGCT	GCACC
aArgLe	euPheLeuLy	sAspLeuGlu <i>l</i>	AsnPhePheA	rgAspArgPr	oThrAspAla	AlaPr
	9250	9260	9270	9280	9290	9300
AATTC	GATTAGCCTA	TGAAGCCCAA	GACATGGTGT	TTGCACCCTA	TGGCCCCAAG	TGGAA
olleAn	rgLeuAlaTy	rGluAlaGln/	AspMetValP	heAlaProTy	rGlyProLys	TrpLy
	9310	9320	9330	9340	9350	9360
GCTTT	<b>FGAGGCGCCT</b>	AGCTCACCAA	GAGATGCTAG	GGCCCAAAGC	ACTTGATAAA	TGGAG
sLeuLe	euArgArgLeu	uAlaHisGln(	GluMetLeuG	lyProLysAl	aLeuAspLys	TrpSe
	9370	9380	9390	9400	9410	9420
CTCTA	9370 FAAGATGTCG	9380 CGAGGCTGAA	9390 CGGATGGTCC	9400 GCTCGATGCG	9410 TAGCTCGTCG	9420 GAGTC
<u>CTCTA</u> rSerI	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCGG</u> LeArgCysArg	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer(	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GluSe
<u>CTCTA</u> rSerI	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCG(</u> LeArgCysArg	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer(	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GluSe
<u>CTCTA</u> rSerI	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCGG</u> LeArgCysArg 9430	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA 9450	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer( 9470	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GluSe 9480
CTCTA rSerI TGGGG/	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCG(</u> LeArgCysArg 9430 AGCTCGTAAA	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440 GGTGGCAGAG/	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA 9450 ATGATGGTGT	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460 TTACTATTGC	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer 9470 TAACATGATA	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GluSe 9480 GGGAG
<u>CTCTA</u> rSerI <u>TGGGG</u> / rGlyG	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCG</u> IeArgCysArg 9430 <u>AGCTCGTAAA(</u> IuLeuValLys	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440 <u>GGTGGCAGAG/</u> sValAlaGlu	9390 CGGATGGTCC ArgMetValA 9450 ATGATGGTGT MetMetValP	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460 <u>TTACTATTGC</u> heThrIleAl	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer 9470 <u>TAACATGATA</u> aAsnMetIle	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GluSe 9480 <u>GGGAG</u> GlyAr
<u>CTCTA</u> rSerI <u>TGGGG</u> / rGlyG	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCGG</u> leArgCysArg 9430 A <u>GCTCGTAAA(</u> luLeuValLys	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440 <u>GGTGGCAGAG/</u> sValAlaGluI	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA 9450 <u>ATGATGGTGT</u> MetMetValP	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460 <u>TTACTATTGC</u> heThrIleAl	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer 9470 <u>TAACATGATA</u> aAsnMetIle	9420 GAGTC GluSe 9480 GGGAG GlyAr
<u>CTCTA</u> rSerI <u>TGGGG</u> / rGlyG	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCGG</u> IeArgCysArg 9430 <u>AGCTCGTAAAG</u> IuLeuValLys 9490	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440 <u>GGTGGCAGAG/</u> sValAlaGlul 9500	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA 9450 <u>ATGATGGTGT</u> MetMetValP 9510	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460 <u>TTACTATTGC</u> heThrIleAl 9520	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer 9470 <u>TAACATGATA(</u> aAsnMetIle 9530	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GluSe 9480 <u>GGGAG</u> GlyAr 9540
CTCTAT rSerI <u>TGGGGG/</u> rGlyG GGTTAT	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCGG</u> leArgCysArg 9430 <u>AGCTCGTAAA(</u> luLeuValLys 9490 FACTTAGTAG	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440 <u>GGTGGCAGAG/</u> sValAlaGlu 9500 GAGAGTGTTT(	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA 9450 <u>ATGATGGTGT</u> MetMetValP 9510 GAGGTGAAGG	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460 <u>TTACTATTGC</u> heThrIleAl 9520 ATGGGGAAGGC	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer 9470 <u>TAACATGATA</u> aAsnMetIle 9530 TAATGAGTTC	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GluSe 9480 <u>GGGAG</u> GlyAr 9540 AAGGA
CTCTAT rSerI <u>TGGGGG/</u> rGIyG <u>GGTTAT</u> gVaII	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCG</u> IeArgCysArg 9430 <u>AGCTCGTAAA</u> IuLeuValLys 9490 <u>FACTTAGTAG</u> IeLeuSerArg	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440 <u>GGTGGCAGAG/</u> sValAlaGlu 9500 <u>GAGAGTGTTT(</u> gArgValPhe(	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA 9450 <u>ATGATGGTGT</u> MetMetValP 9510 GAGGTGAAGG GluValLysA	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460 <u>TTACTATTGC</u> heThrIleAl 9520 <u>ATGGGGAGGC</u> spGlyGluAl	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer 9470 <u>TAACATGATA</u> aAsnMetIle 9530 <u>TAATGAGTTC</u> aAsnGluPhel	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GluSe 9480 <u>GGGAG</u> GlyAr 9540 <u>AAGGA</u> LySGI
<u>CTCTA</u> rSerI <u>TGGGGG/</u> rGlyG <u>GGTTA</u> gValI	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCGG</u> IeArgCysArg 9430 <u>AGCTCGTAAAG</u> IuLeuVaILys 9490 <u>FACTTAGTAG</u> IeLeuSerArg	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440 <u>GGTGGCAGAG/</u> sValAlaGlu 9500 <u>GAGAGTGTTT(</u> gArgValPhe(	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA 9450 <u>ATGATGGTGT</u> MetMetValP 9510 <u>GAGGTGAAGG</u> GluValLysA	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460 <u>TTACTATTGC</u> heThrIleAl 9520 <u>ATGGGGGAGGC</u> spGlyGluAl	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer 9470 <u>TAACATGATA</u> aAsnMetIle 9530 <u>TAATGAGTTC</u> aAsnGluPhel	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GluSe 9480 <u>GGGAG</u> GlyAr 9540 <u>AAGGA</u> LysGl
CTCTAT rSerI <u>TGGGGG/</u> rGlyG <u>GGTTAT</u> gValI	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCGG</u> IeArgCysArg 9430 <u>AGCTCGTAAAG</u> IuLeuValLys 9490 <u>FACTTAGTAGG</u> IeLeuSerArg 9550	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440 <u>GGTGGCAGAG/</u> sValAlaGlu 9500 <u>GAGAGTGTTT(</u> gArgValPhe( 9560	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA 9450 <u>ATGATGGTGT</u> MetMetValP 9510 <u>GAGGTGAAGG</u> GluValLysA 9570	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460 <u>TTACTATTGC</u> heThrIleAl 9520 <u>ATGGGGAGGC</u> spGlyGluAl 9580	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer 9470 <u>TAACATGATA</u> aAsnMetIle 9530 <u>TAATGAGTTC</u> aAsnGluPhel 9590	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GluSe 9480 <u>GGGAG</u> GlyAr 9540 <u>AAGGA</u> LysGl 9600
CTCTAT rSerI <u>TGGGGG/</u> rGIyG <u>GGTTAT</u> gVaII GATGG	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCGG</u> IeArgCysArg 9430 <u>AGCTCGTAAAG</u> IuLeuValLys 9490 <u>FACTTAGTAG</u> IeLeuSerArg 9550 FGGTGGAGCTG	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440 <u>GGTGGCAGAG/</u> sValAlaGlul 9500 <u>GAGAGTGTTT(</u> gArgValPhe( 9560 GATGACTTTG	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA 9450 <u>ATGATGGTGT</u> MetMetValP 9510 <u>GAGGTGAAGG</u> GUValLysA 9570 GCTGGGCTCT	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460 <u>TTACTATTGC</u> heThrIleAl 9520 <u>ATGGGGGAGGC</u> spGlyGluAl 9580 TTAACATTGG	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer 9470 <u>TAACATGATA</u> aAsnMetIle 9530 <u>TAATGAGTTC</u> aAsnGluPhel 9590 GGACTTTGTT	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GluSe 9480 <u>GGGAG</u> GlyAr 9540 <u>AAGGA</u> LysGl 9600 CCGGC
CTCTAT rSerI <u>TGGGGG/</u> rGIyG <u>GGTTAT</u> gVaII <u>GATGGT</u> uMetVa	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCGG</u> IeArgCysArg 9430 <u>AGCTCGTAAAG</u> IuLeuVaILys 9490 <u>FACTTAGTAGG</u> IeLeuSerArg 9550 <u>FGGTGGAGCTG</u> aIVaIGIuLeg	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440 <u>GGTGGCAGAG/</u> sValAlaGlu 9500 <u>GAGAGTGTTT(</u> gArgValPhe( 9560 <u>GATGACTTTG(</u> JMetThrLeu/	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA 9450 <u>ATGATGGTGT</u> MetMetValP 9510 <u>GAGGTGAAGG</u> GIUValLysA 9570 <u>GCTGGGCTCT</u> AlaGlyLeuP	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460 <u>TTACTATTGC</u> heThrIleAl 9520 <u>ATGGGGAGGC</u> spGlyGluAl 9580 <u>TTAACATTGG</u> heAsnIleGl	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer 9470 <u>TAACATGATA</u> aAsnMetIle 9530 <u>TAATGAGTTC</u> aAsnGluPhel 9590 <u>GGACTTTGTT</u> yAspPheVall	9420 GAGTC GluSe 9480 GGGAG GlyAr 9540 AAGGA LysGl 9600 CCGGC ProAl
CTCTAT rSerI <u>TGGGGG/</u> rGlyG <u>GGTTAT</u> gValI <u>GATGG</u> uMetVa	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCGG</u> IeArgCysArg 9430 <u>AGCTCGTAAAG</u> IuLeuVaILys 9490 <u>FACTTAGTAGG</u> IeLeuSerArg 9550 <u>FGGTGGAGCTG</u> aIVaIGIuLeu	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440 <u>GGTGGCAGAG/</u> sValAlaGlu 9500 <u>GAGAGTGTTT(</u> gArgValPhe( 9560 <u>GATGACTTTG(</u> uMetThrLeu/	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA 9450 <u>ATGATGGTGT</u> MetMetValP 9510 <u>GAGGTGAAGG</u> 3luValLysA 9570 <u>GCTGGGCTCT</u> AlaGlyLeuP	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460 <u>TTACTATTGC</u> heThrIleAl 9520 <u>ATGGGGGAGGC</u> spGlyGluAl 9580 <u>TTAACATTGG</u> heAsnIleGl	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer 9470 <u>TAACATGATA</u> aAsnMetIle 9530 <u>TAATGAGTTC</u> aAsnGluPhel 9590 <u>GGACTTTGTT</u> yAspPheVall	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GluSe 9480 <u>GGGAG</u> GlyAr 9540 <u>AAGGA</u> LysGl 9600 <u>CCGGC</u> ProAl
CTCTAT rSerI <u>TGGGGG/</u> rGlyG <u>GGTTAT</u> gValI <u>GATGG</u> uMetVa	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCGG</u> IeArgCysArg 9430 <u>AGCTCGTAAAG</u> IuLeuVaILys 9490 <u>FACTTAGTAGG</u> IeLeuSerArg 9550 <u>FGGTGGAGCTG</u> aIVaIGIuLeu 9610	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440 <u>GGTGGCAGAG/</u> sValAlaGlu 9500 <u>GAGAGTGTTT(</u> gArgValPhe( 9560 <u>GATGACTTTG(</u> JMetThrLeu/ 9620	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA 9450 <u>ATGATGGTGT</u> MetMetValP 9510 <u>GAGGTGAAGG</u> 3 luValLysA 9570 <u>GCTGGGCTCT</u> AlaGlyLeuP 9630	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460 <u>TTACTATTGC</u> heThrIleAl 9520 <u>ATGGGGAGGC</u> spGlyGluAl 9580 <u>TTAACATTGG</u> heAsnIleGl 9640	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer 9470 <u>TAACATGATA</u> aAsnMetIle 9530 <u>TAATGAGTTC</u> aAsnGluPhel 9590 <u>GGACTTTGTT</u> yAspPheVall 9650	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GIUSe 9480 <u>GGGAG</u> GIYAr 9540 <u>AAGGA</u> LysGI 9600 <u>CCGGC</u> ProAI 9660
CTCTAT rSerI <u>TGGGGG/</u> rGIyG <u>GGTTAT</u> gVaII <u>GATGGT</u> uMetVa <u>TGTGG</u>	9370 <u>FAAGATGTCGG</u> IeArgCysArg 9430 <u>AGCTCGTAAAG</u> IuLeuVaILys 9490 <u>FACTTAGTAGG</u> IeLeuSerArg 9550 <u>FGGTGGAGGCTG</u> aIVaIGIuLeu 9610 <u>CGTGGATGGA</u>	9380 <u>CGAGGCTGAA(</u> gGluAlaGlu/ 9440 <u>GGTGGCAGAG/</u> sValAlaGlu 9500 <u>GAGAGTGTTT(</u> gArgValPhe( <u>9560</u> <u>GATGACTTTG(</u> uMetThrLeu/ 9620 <u>CTTGCAGGGG</u>	9390 <u>CGGATGGTCC</u> ArgMetValA 9450 <u>ATGATGGTGT</u> MetMetValP 9510 <u>GAGGTGAAGG</u> aluValLysA 9570 <u>GCTGGGCTCT</u> AlaGlyLeuP 9630 <u>ITGGAGGGGA</u>	9400 <u>GCTCGATGCG</u> rgSerMetAr 9460 <u>TTACTATTGC</u> heThrIleAl 9520 <u>ATGGGGGAGGC</u> spGlyGluAl 9580 <u>TTAACATTGG</u> heAsnIleGl 9640 <u>AGATGAAGAA</u>	9410 <u>TAGCTCGTCG</u> gSerSerSer( 9470 <u>TAACATGATA(</u> aAsnMetIle( 9530 <u>TAATGAGTTC/</u> aAsnGluPhel 9590 <u>GGACTTTGTT(</u> yAspPheVall 9650 <u>GCTGCATGTG</u>	9420 <u>GAGTC</u> GIUSe 9480 <u>GGGAG</u> GIYAr 9540 <u>AAGGA</u> LysGI 9600 <u>CCGGC</u> ProAI 9660 <u>AGGTT</u>

0070	9680	9690	9700	9710	9720		
CGATAAGGTGCT	CTCGAAGATAC	CTGCGAGAGCA	CGAGGCGAC	GAAGGGGGAG	AGGAAGGG		
eAspLysValLeuSerLysIleLeuArgGluHisGluAlaThrLysGlyGluArgLysGl							
9/30	9/40	9750	9760	9770	9/80		
GAGGGAGGATTT	ACTTGATCTTC	CTGATTGGAT	CAGAGATGG		<u>GAGGAGGG</u>		
yArgGluAspLe	uLeuAspLeuL	_euIleGlyCy	vsArgAspGly	/GlnGlyGly	GluGluGl		
9790	9800	9810	9820	9830	9840		
GGGTGGAGGTCA	<u>CTGATATAATA</u>	ATCAAGGCTG1	CCTATTGAAG	CTTATTCACG	GCCGGTTC		
yValGluValTh	rAspAspAsnl	lleLysAlaVa	lLeuLeuAsr	nLeuPheThr	AlaGlySe		
9850	9860	9870	9880	9890	9900		
TGACACTTCAAC	TGGTGCTTTGG						
rAspThrSorTh	rGlyAlalou		oThrGlul or	ILoValAce	DroThrIl		
r Aspini Ser III	TUTYATALEUU	ппрятат					
0010	0020	0030	0040	0050	0060		
9910			9940 TATOOOAOO/				
eleuhislysai	aginalagiun	letAspuinva	IIIeuiyar	gasnargleu	Leugiugi		
0070	0000	0000	10000	10010	10000		
9970	9980	9990	10000	10010	10020		
9970 ATCGGACATACC	9980 GAAGTTGCCA1	9990 ACCTAAGAGO	10000 CATAGTGAAG	10010 GGAAACATTC	10020 CGAAAACA		
9970 <u>ATCGGACATACC</u> uSerAspIlePro	9980 <u>GAAGTTGCCA1</u> oLysLeuPro1	9990 [ <u>ACCTAAGAGC</u> [yrLeuArgA]	10000 CCATAGTGAAC alleValLys	10010 GGAAACATTC sGluThrPhe	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi		
9970 <u>ATCGGACATACC</u> uSerAspIlePro 10030	9980 <u>GAAGTTGCCAT</u> oLysLeuProl 10040	9990 [ <u>ACCTAAGAGC</u> [yrLeuArgA] 10050	10000 <u>CATAGTGAAC</u> aIleValLys 10060	10010 GGAAACATTC sGluThrPhe 10070	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080		
9970 ATCGGACATACC uSerAspIlePro 10030 TCCTTCAACACC	9980 <u>GAAGTTGCCA1</u> oLysLeuPro1 10040 TTTAAATCTCC	9990 [ <u>ACCTAAGAGC</u> [yrLeuArgA] 10050 CCTCGTATCGC	10000 <u>CATAGTGAAC</u> aIleValLys 10060 CAACCGAAGCT	10010 GGAAACATTC SGluThrPhe 10070 ITGTGAAGCC	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 AATGGTTA		
9970 ATCGGACATACC uSerAspIlePro 10030 TCCTTCAACACC sProSerThrPro	9980 GAAGTTGCCAT oLysLeuProT 10040 TTTAAATCTCC oLeuAsnLeuF	9990 [ACCTAAGAGO [yrLeuArgA] 10050 <u>CCTCGTATCGO</u> ProArgI]eA]	10000 CATAGTGAAC alleValLys 10060 CAACCGAAGC aThrGluAla	10010 GGAAACATTC SGIUThrPhe 10070 ITGTGAAGCC aCysGIUAIa	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 <u>AATGGTTA</u> AsnGlvTv		
9970 ATCGGACATACCO uSerAspIlePro 10030 <u>TCCTTCAACACCC</u> sProSerThrPro	9980 GAAGTTGCCAT oLysLeuProT 10040 TTTAAATCTCC oLeuAsnLeuF	9990 [ACCTAAGAGO [yrLeuArgA] 10050 CCTCGTATCGO ProArgI]eA]	10000 CATAGTGAAC alleValLys 10060 CAACCGAAGC aThrGluAla	10010 GGAAACATTC sGluThrPhe 10070 ITGTGAAGCC aCysGluAla	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 <u>AATGGTTA</u> AsnGlyTy		
9970 <u>ATCGGACATACC</u> uSerAspIlePro 10030 <u>TCCTTCAACACC</u> sProSerThrPro 10090	9980 GAAGTTGCCAT oLysLeuProT 10040 <u>TTTAAATCTCC</u> oLeuAsnLeuF 10100	9990 [ACCTAAGAGO [yrLeuArgA] 10050 CCTCGTATCGO ProArgI]eA] 10110	10000 <u>CATAGTGAAC</u> alleValLys 10060 <u>CAACCGAAGCT</u> aThrGluAla 10120	10010 GGAAACATTC SGluThrPhe 10070 ITGTGAAGCC aCysGluAla 10130	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 <u>AATGGTTA</u> AsnGlyTy 10140		
9970 ATCGGACATACCA uSerAspIlePro 10030 TCCTTCAACACCC sProSerThrPro 10090 TTACATTCCAAA	9980 GAAGTTGCCAT oLysLeuProT 10040 <u>TTTAAATCTCC</u> oLeuAsnLeuF 10100 GAACACTAAGC	9990 [ACCTAAGAGO [yrLeuArgA] 10050 CCTCGTATCGO ProArgI]eA] 10110 CTCTTGGTCA	10000 <u>CATAGTGAAC</u> alleValLys 10060 <u>CAACCGAAGCT</u> aThrGluAla 10120 CATTTGGGCA	10010 GGAAACATTC SGluThrPhe 10070 ITGTGAAGCC aCysGluAla 10130 AATAGGGCGT	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 <u>AATGGTTA</u> AsnGlyTy 10140 GACCCAAA		
9970 <u>ATCGGACATACC</u> uSerAspIlePro 10030 <u>TCCTTCAACACC</u> sProSerThrPro 10090 <u>TTACATTCCAAA</u> rTyrIleProLys	9980 GAAGTTGCCAT oLysLeuProT 10040 <u>TTTAAATCTCC</u> oLeuAsnLeuF 10100 GAACACTAAGC sAsnThrLysL	9990 [ACCTAAGAGO [yrLeuArgA] 10050 CCTCGTATCGO ProArgIleA] 10110 CTCTTGGTCAA LeuLeuValAs	10000 CATAGTGAAC alleValLys 10060 CAACCGAAGC aThrGluAla 10120 CATTTGGGC/ snlleTrpAla	10010 GGAAACATTC GGLUThrPhe 10070 ITGTGAAGCC ACysGLUALA 10130 ATAGGGCGT ALLEGLYArg	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 <u>AATGGTTA</u> AsnGIyTy 10140 <u>GACCCAAA</u> AspProAs		
9970 ATCGGACATACCA uSerAspIlePro 10030 <u>TCCTTCAACACCC</u> sProSerThrPro 10090 <u>TTACATTCCAAAA</u> rTyrIleProLys	9980 GAAGTTGCCAT oLysLeuProT 10040 <u>TTTAAATCTCC</u> oLeuAsnLeuF 10100 GAACACTAAGC sAsnThrLysL	9990 [ACCTAAGAGO [yrLeuArgA] 10050 CCTCGTATCGO ProArgI]eA] 10110 CTCTTGGTCAA LeuLeuVa]As	10000 CATAGTGAAC alleValLys 10060 CAACCGAAGCT aThrGluAla 10120 CATTTGGGCA cnlleTrpAla	10010 GGAAACATTC SGIUThrPhe 10070 ITGTGAAGCC ACysGIUAIa 10130 ATAGGGCGT AIIeGIyArg	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 <u>AATGGTTA</u> AsnGlyTy 10140 <u>GACCCAAA</u> AspProAs		
9970 ATCGGACATACCA uSerAspIlePro 10030 TCCTTCAACACCC sProSerThrPro 10090 TTACATTCCAAAA rTyrIleProLys 10150	9980 GAAGTTGCCAT oLysLeuProT 10040 <u>TTTAAATCTCC</u> oLeuAsnLeuF 10100 <u>GAACACTAAGC</u> sAsnThrLysL 10160	9990 <u>ACCTAAGAGO</u> TyrLeuArgA 10050 <u>CCTCGTATCGO</u> ProArgIIeA 10110 <u>CTCTTGGTCAA</u> LeuLeuVaIAs 10170	10000 CATAGTGAAC alleValLys 10060 CAACCGAAGC aThrGluAla 10120 CATTTGGGC/ SnIleTrpAla 10180	10010 GGAAACATTC GGLUThrPhe 10070 ITGTGAAGCC ACysGLUALA 10130 AATAGGGCGT ALLEGLYArg 10190	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 <u>AATGGTTA</u> AsnGIyTy 10140 <u>GACCCAAA</u> AspProAs 10200		
9970 ATCGGACATACCA uSerAspIlePro 10030 TCCTTCAACACCC sProSerThrPro 10090 TTACATTCCAAAA rTyrIleProLys 10150 TGTTTGGCCTAA	9980 GAAGTTGCCAT oLysLeuProT 10040 <u>TTTAAATCTCC</u> oLeuAsnLeuF 10100 GAACACTAAGC sAsnThrLysL 10160 CCCACTCAAAT	9990 <u>ACCTAAGAGO</u> TyrLeuArgA 10050 <u>CCTCGTATCGO</u> ProArgIleA 10110 <u>CTCTTGGTCAA</u> LeuLeuValAs 10170 TTTGACCCAGA	10000 CATAGTGAAC alleValLys 10060 CAACCGAAGCT aThrGluAla 10120 CATTTGGGCA snIleTrpAla 10180 ACGATTTATC	10010 GAAACATTC SGLUThrPhe 10070 <u>ITGTGAAGCC</u> ACysGLUALA 10130 <u>ATAGGGCGT</u> ALLEGLYArg 10190 GACCTTGAAG	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 <u>AATGGTTA</u> AsnGlyTy 10140 <u>GACCCAAA</u> AspProAs 10200 GGCTCTAA		
9970 ATCGGACATACCA uSerAspIlePro 10030 TCCTTCAACACCC sProSerThrPro 10090 TTACATTCCAAA rTyrIleProLys 10150 TGTTTGGCCTAA nValTrpProAsi	9980 GAAGTTGCCAT oLysLeuProT 10040 <u>TTTAAATCTCC</u> oLeuAsnLeuF 10100 <u>GAACACTAAGC</u> sAsnThrLysL 10160 <u>CCCACTCAAAT</u> nProLeuLysF	9990 <u>ACCTAAGAGO</u> yrLeuArgA 10050 <u>CCTCGTATCGO</u> ProArgIIeA 10110 <u>CTCTTGGTCAA</u> euLeuVaIAs 10170 <u>TTGACCCAGA</u> PheAspProG	10000 <u>CATAGTGAAC</u> aIleValLys 10060 <u>CAACCGAAGC</u> aThrGluAla 10120 <u>CATTTGGGC/</u> snIleTrpAla 10180 <u>ACGATTTATC</u> uArgPheMet	10010 GAAACATTC SGLUThrPhe 10070 ITGTGAAGCC ACysGLUALA 10130 ATAGGGCGT ALLEGLYArg 10190 GACCTTGAAG	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 <u>AATGGTTA</u> AsnGIyTy 10140 <u>GACCCAAA</u> AspProAs 10200 <u>GGCTCTAA</u> GIvSerLy		
9970 ATCGGACATACCA uSerAspIlePro 10030 TCCTTCAACACCC sProSerThrPro 10090 TTACATTCCAAAA rTyrIleProLys 10150 TGTTTGGCCTAAA nValTrpProAst	9980 GAAGTTGCCAT oLysLeuProl 10040 <u>TTTAAATCTCC</u> oLeuAsnLeuF 10100 <u>GAACACTAAGC</u> sAsnThrLysL 10160 <u>CCCACTCAAAT</u> nProLeuLysF	9990 <u>ACCTAAGAGO</u> FyrLeuArgA 10050 <u>CCTCGTATCGO</u> ProArgIIeA 10110 <u>CTCTTGGTCA</u> LeuLeuVaIAs 10170 <u>FTTGACCCAG</u> PheAspProGI	10000 CATAGTGAAC aIleValLys 10060 CAACCGAAGCT aThrGluAla 10120 CATTTGGGCA snIleTrpAla 10180 ACGATTTATC uArgPheMet	10010 GAAACATTC SGLUThrPhe 10070 TTGTGAAGCC ACysGLUALA 10130 ATAGGGCGT ALLEGLYArg 10190 GACCTTGAAG ThrLeuLys	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 <u>AATGGTTA</u> AsnGlyTy 10140 <u>GACCCAAA</u> AspProAs 10200 <u>GGCTCTAA</u> GlySerLy		
9970 ATCGGACATACCA uSerAspIlePro 10030 TCCTTCAACACCC sProSerThrPro 10090 TTACATTCCAAAA rTyrIleProLys 10150 TGTTTGGCCTAAA nValTrpProAss 10210	9980 GAAGTTGCCAT oLysLeuProT 10040 <u>TTTAAATCTCC</u> oLeuAsnLeuF 10100 <u>GAACACTAAGC</u> sAsnThrLysL 10160 <u>CCCACTCAAAT</u> nProLeuLysF 10220	9990 <u>ACCTAAGAGO</u> TyrLeuArgA 10050 <u>CCTCGTATCGO</u> ProArgIleA 10110 <u>CTCTTGGTCA</u> euLeuValAs 10170 <u>TTGACCCAG</u> PheAspProGI 10230	10000 <u>CATAGTGAAC</u> aIleValLys 10060 <u>CAACCGAAGC</u> aThrGluAla 10120 <u>CATTTGGGC/</u> snIleTrpAla 10180 <u>ACGATTTATC</u> uArgPheMet 10240	10010 <u>GAAACATTC</u> SGLUThrPhe 10070 <u>ITGTGAAGCC</u> ACYSGLUALA 10130 <u>ATAGGGCGT</u> ATAGGGCGT 10190 <u>GACCTTGAAG</u> ThrLeuLys 10250	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 <u>AATGGTTA</u> AsnGlyTy 10140 <u>GACCCAAA</u> AspProAs 10200 <u>GGCTCTAA</u> GlySerLy 10260		
9970 ATCGGACATACCA uSerAspIlePro 10030 <u>TCCTTCAACACCC</u> sProSerThrPro 10090 <u>TTACATTCCAAAA</u> rTyrIleProLys 10150 <u>TGTTTGGCCTAAA</u> nValTrpProAst 10210 AATTGACCCACA	9980 GAAGTTGCCAT oLysLeuProl 10040 <u>TTTAAATCTCC</u> oLeuAsnLeuF 10100 <u>GAACACTAAGC</u> sAsnThrLysL 10160 <u>CCCACTCAAAT</u> nProLeuLysF 10220 AGGTAATGACT	9990 <u>ACCTAAGAGO</u> FyrLeuArgAl 10050 <u>CCTCGTATCGO</u> ProArgIleAl 10110 <u>CTCTTGGTCAA</u> euLeuValAs 10170 <u>CTTGACCCAGA</u> PheAspProGI 10230 TTGAGCTCAT	10000 CATAGTGAAC aIleValLys 10060 CAACCGAAGCT aThrGluAla 10120 CATTTGGGCA inIleTrpAla 10180 ACGATTTATC uArgPheMet 10240 CACCATTCGGC	10010 GAAACATTC GUThrPhe 10070 TGTGAAGCC CysGluAla 10130 ATAGGGCGT ATAGGGCGT 10190 GACCTTGAAG ThrLeuLys 10250 GTCTGGACGC	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 <u>AATGGTTA</u> AsnGlyTy 10140 <u>GACCCAAA</u> AspProAs 10200 <u>GGCTCTAA</u> GlySerLy 10260 AGAATCTG		
9970 ATCGGACATACCA uSerAspIlePro 10030 TCCTTCAACACCC sProSerThrPro 10090 TTACATTCCAAAA rTyrIleProLys 10150 TGTTTGGCCTAAA nValTrpProAss 10210 AATTGACCCACA sIleAspProGli	9980 <u>GAAGTTGCCAT</u> oLysLeuProl <u>10040</u> <u>TTTAAATCTCC</u> oLeuAsnLeuF <u>10100</u> <u>GAACACTAAGC</u> sAsnThrLysL <u>10160</u> <u>CCCACTCAAAT</u> nProLeuLysF <u>10220</u> <u>AGGTAATGACT</u> nGLyAsnAspE	9990 <u>ACCTAAGAGO</u> TyrLeuArgAl 10050 <u>CCTCGTATCGO</u> ProArgIleAl 10110 <u>CTCTTGGTCAA</u> euLeuValAs 10170 <u>TTGACCCAGA</u> PheAspProGI 10230 <u>TTGAGCTCAT</u> PheGluLeuT	10000 CATAGTGAAC aIleValLys 10060 AACCGAAGCT aThrGluAla 10120 CATTTGGGC/ onIleTrpAla 10180 ACGATTTATC uArgPheMet 10240 ACCATTCGGC eProPheGLy	10010 GAAACATTC GIUThrPhe 10070 TGTGAAGCC ACYSGIUAIA 10130 ATAGGGCGT AIIeGIYArg 10190 GACCTTGAAG ThrLeuLys 10250 GTCTGGACGC (SerGIYArg	10020 <u>CGAAAACA</u> ArgLysHi 10080 <u>AATGGTTA</u> AsnGlyTy 10140 <u>GACCCAAA</u> AspProAs 10200 <u>GGCTCTAA</u> GlySerLy 10260 <u>AGAATCTG</u> ArglleCy		

10270	10280	10290	10300	10310	10320
CGCCGGTGCCCG	TATGGGTGTT	GTGGTTGTGG/	AGTACCTCTT	GGGCTTGATG	ATTCACGC
sAlaGlyAlaAr	gMetGlyVal\	/alValValG	luTyrLeuLeı	uGlyLeuMet	IleHisAl
10330	10340	10350	10360	10370	10380
ATTTGACTGGAA	ATTGCCTCTG	GTGAAACCA	<b>EGGACATGGG</b>	CGAGACATTT	GGAATCGC
aPheAspTrpLy	sLeuProLeu(	GlyGluThrMe	etAspMetGly	GluThrPhe	GlyIleAl
10390	10400	10410	10420	10430	10440
ACTTCAAAAGAC	TGTGCCGGTA	GCGGCAATTG	<u>FGAGCCCTCG</u>	CCTAGAGCCA	<u>AACGTTTA</u>
aLeuGInLysTh	rValProVal <i>I</i>	AlaAlaIleVa	alSerProArg	gLeuGluPro	AsnValTy
10450	10460	10470	10480	10490	10500
<u>TAAGAATATAAA</u>	AACAACATAA/	AATGATATCO	CTGCAG <u>GAAA</u>	<b>TCACCAGTCT</b>	<u>CTCTCTAC</u>
rLysAsnIleLy	sThrThr***		T358	5	
10510	10520	10530	10540	10550	10560
AAATCTATCTCT	CTCTATTTC	CCATAAATAA	TGTGTGAGT	AGTTTCCCGA	TAAGGGAA
		•••••••			
10570	10580	10590	10600	10610	10620
ATTAGGGTTCTT	ATAGGGTTTC	GCTCATGTGT	<b>FGAGCATATA</b>	AGAAACCCTT	<u>AGTATGTA</u>
10630	10640	10650	10660	10670	10680
TTTGTATTTGTA	AAATACTTCT		TTCTAATTC	CTAAAACCAA	AATCCAGT
10690	10700	10710	10720	10730	10740
ACTAAAATCCAG	ATCTCCTAAA	GTCCCTATAG	ATCTTTGTCG	<b>FGAATATAAA</b>	<u>CCAGACAC</u>
/		/			
Bg	/11	Bg	/I I		
10750	10760	10770	10780	10790	10800
GAGACGACTAAA	CCTGGAGCCC/	AGACGCCGTT	CGAAGCTAGA	AGTACCGCTT	AGGCAGGA
10810	10820	10830	10840	10850	10860
GGCCGTTAGGGA	AAAGATGCTA	AGGCAGGGTT	GTTACGTTG/	ACTCCCCCGT	AGGTTTGG
10870	10880	10890	10900	10910	10920
TTTAAATATGAT	GAAGTGGACG	GAAGGAAGGA	GAAGACAAG	GAAGGATAAG	GTTGCAGG
10930	10940	10950	10960	10970	10980
CCCTGTGCAAGG	TAAGAAGATG	GAAATTTGAT	AGAGGTACGC	FACTATACTT	ATACTATA

11710 11720 11730 11740 11750 11760 CCGACAGCGCCCCAGCACGCGCCCAGCACGCGCCCAGCACGCCAGCACGCCAGCA

13390	13400	13410	13420	13430	13440
CTTCTTCACTGT	CCCTTATTCG	CACCTGGCGG	<b>FGCTCAACGG</b>	GAATCCTGCT	CTGCGAGG
13450	13/60	13/70	13/80	13/00	13500
			10400		1000
		ACAGATGAGG			AUUAAUUU
13510	13520	13530	13540	13550	13560
AACCAGGAAGGG	CAGCCCACCT	ATCAAGGTGT/	ACTGCCTTCC	AGACGAACGA	AGAGCGAT
13570	13580	13590	13600	13610	13620
	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	GCATGAGCCI			
TURUURAAAUUU					
10000	10040	10050	10000	10070	10000
13630	13640	13650	13660	13670	13680
<u>GGGCTACAAAAT</u>	CACGGGCGTC	GTGGACTATG/	AGCACGTCCG	CGAGCTGGCC	CGCATCAA
13690	13700	13710	13720	13730	13740
TGGCGACCTGGG	CCGCCTGGGC	GCCTGCTGA	ACTCTGGCT	CACCGACGAC	CCGCGCAC
12750	12760	12770	12700	12700	12000
13730		13770		13/90	13000
GGCGCGGTTCGG	IGA I GCCACG/	ATCCTCGCCC	GCIGGCGAA	ia i cgaagag	AAGCAGGA
13810	13820	13830	13840	13850	13860
CGAGCTTGGCAA	GGTCATGATG	GGCGTGGTCC	GCCCGAGGGC	AGAGCCATGA	CTTTTTTA
13870	13880	13890	13900	13910	13920
CCCCCT A A A CC	COCCCCCCCCT				
<u>uccuci AAAAcu</u>					JIGGATGA
13930	13940	13950	13960	13970	13980
AGAAGAGCGACT	TCGCGGAGCT(	<u>GGTGAAGTAC</u>	ATCACCGACG/	AGCAAGGCAA	GACCGAGC

13990

<u>GCCT</u>TTGCGACGCTCA